
ANNUAL REPORT 2005

RAISING THE BAR



ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
The 2005 Annual General Meeting of shareholders of 
Cabcharge Australia Limited will be held at: The Westin Sydney, 
Heritage Ball Room, 1 Martin Place, Sydney, NSW at 12.00 noon 
on Wednesday 23 November 2005.

CONTENTS
Results in Brief  2
Executive Chairman’s Report  4
Board of Directors  16
Directors’ Report  18
Auditor’s Independence Declaration  23
Corporate Governance Statement  24
Guide to Financial Statements and Notes  29
Directors’ Declaration  55
Independent Auditor’s Report  56
ASX Information  57



1

24/7When Cabcharge was founded in 1976, my vision 
was to create an open and supportive nationally 
integrated EFTPOS and radio dispatch system, 
where passengers and drivers could travel and 
operate with convenience and security. 

THIS VISION IS MORE VIBRANT TODAY THAN EVER. EXCEPTIONAL RESULTS REQUIRE DETAILED PLANNING, ATTENTION TO 
EXECUTION AND DEDICATED STAFF. OVER THE YEARS WE HAVE CONSISTENTLY SOUGHT TO ‘RAISE THE BAR’ TO GROW 
CABCHARGE VERTICALLY AND HORIZONTALLY. WE PRIDE OURSELVES ON THE RESULTS WE HAVE DELIVERED IN THE LAST 
TWELVE MONTHS AND IN PARTICULAR THE TANGIBLE CREATION OF SHAREHOLDER VALUE. 

CABCHARGE CONTINUES TO MAKE GOOD PROGRESS IN ALL AREAS OF OPERATIONS AND WE ARE LOOKING FORWARD 
TO A STRONG 2006. REG KERMODE
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 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
  $m $m $m $m $m

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Total Revenue 780.1  693.5   645.7   588.1   545.4 

EBITDA 48.1  39.5   32.9   25.7   20.2 

EBIT 36.3  30.6   26.4   21.2   17.1 

Net Profi t 27.2  23.1   20.3   16.1   12.5 

FINANCIAL POSITION
Total Assets Employed 166.5  158.4   145.8   137.8   110.4 

Shareholders’ Funds 72.4  71.8   74.4   71.6   68.2 

  cents cents cents cents cents

PER SHARE
Earnings – Basic 24.30  20.60   18.00   14.70   11.50 

Earnings – Diluted 24.30  20.60   18.00   14.60   11.50 

Ordinary Dividends 17.00  13.75   12.00   10.00   8.00 

Net Tangible Assets 115.04  105.30   104.00   90.40   85.80 

  % % % % %

KEY RATIOS
EBIT/Average Funds Employed 36 35 33 32 30

Return on Contributed Equity 38 32 27 22 18

Net Profi t After Tax increased 17.7% to $27.2m. 

Revenue increased 12.5% to $780m.

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) increased 21.8% to $48.1m.

Earnings per share (diluted) increased 18% to 24.3cents.

Electronic processing increased to 57% from 52%.

RESULTS IN BRIEF



3

43

48

52

57

hlights
53

58

22

20

26

21

Turnover and Account Service Fee
BY SOURCE
%

Turnover
BY TRANSACTION TYPE
%

CABCHARGE CARDS AND DOCKETS

BANK ISSUED CARDS

THIRD PARTY CHARGE CARDS

ELECTRONIC

PAPER

05

04

05

04

-20

0

20

40

60

80

100

O
ct

 0
2

Ja
n 

02

A
pr

 0
3

A
pr

 0
4

O
ct

 0
4

A
pr

 0
2

Ju
l 0

2

O
ct

 0
1

Ja
n 

03

Ja
n 

01

O
ct

 0
0

Ju
l 0

1

A
pr

 0
1

Ja
n 

04

Ju
l 0

3

O
ct

 0
3

Ju
l 0

4

Ja
n 

05

A
pr

 0
5

Ju
l 0

5

120

CABCHARGE % CHANGE

ALL ORDINARIES % CHANGE

5 Year Share Price Performance versus ASX All Ordinaries Index



OVERVIEW OF 2005
Cabcharge has had an exceptional year and 
has made excellent progress in all areas of its 
operations. Our focus is on “raising the bar” for 
everything we do – and this year we have improved 
our fi nancial results, introduced new state-of-
the-art technology and provided an indispensable 
service to the Australian community.  

The vision we had many years ago is more vibrant 
than ever. We have become a large transaction-
oriented group and the leading provider of 
integrated services and systems to the taxi industry. 
In addition, we are positioning Cabcharge for 
strategic growth in synergistic businesses. We 
continue to look beyond the horizon, with a focus 
on new ideas and opportunities.

We are meeting the challenge of growing our 
business vertically and horizontally, and of striving 
to become a global leader in our industry with a 
strong joint-venture partner – ComfortDelGro. This 
is evident in recently announced developments, 
which are discussed in more detail later in the 
report.

We have long believed that Cabcharge would be 
at the forefront of innovation and technological 
development for integrated electronic payment 
and radio despatch systems. As such, it is pleasing 
to note that we have delivered on expectations 
and are well positioned for even greater success in 
2006 and beyond.

Before outlining some of these developments 
of the past year that will have a fl ow-on effect 
on our future, I would like to focus on this year’s 
successful results and the main contributors 
to them.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
In the year under review, Cabcharge has delivered 
record fi nancial results and continued to increase 
shareholder value. 

The consolidated accounts recorded a net profi t 
of $27.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2005, 
a 17.7% increase over the previous year. Revenue 
is up by 12.5% from $693 million to $780 million. 
Major contributors to this result were:
•  continuing strong growth of 29% in bank-issued 

cards – mainly Bank Debit and Visa transactions
•  steady growth of 4.1% in Cabcharge account 

business
•  increased growth of 18.3% in American Express 

and Diners Club card transactions.

Further contributors to revenue were an increase 
in the number of TCS Cabs, up by 99 to 2,709 
taxis, and a full year contribution from Black Cabs 
in Melbourne and ABC Radio Taxis. 

Our balance sheet remains strong with a net cash 
position of $38.3 million, despite $20 million 
of capital expenditure. While fi nancial assets 
increased by $3.2 million to $23.7 million due 
to the acquisition of taxi licences, our need for 
working capital increased by 9% ($3.3 million) 
to $39.8 million. The taxi industry across Australia 
benefi ted by $12.9 million in service payments 
from Cabcharge. 

Earnings per share increased by 17.9% to 
24.3 cents per share and Cabcharge’s fully franked 
dividends increased 23.6% to 17 cents per share 
from 13.75 cents per share. 

The dividend payout ratio, now over 70%, 
benefi ts our shareholders which include many 
taxi companies, co-operatives, staff, owners and 
drivers. This high payout ratio is testimony to the 
Company’s performance and interest in rewarding 
its shareholders. 

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT
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/ 12.01 AM YISHUN  / 12.04 AM BALMAIN  / 12.12 AM LITTLEBOURNE  / 1.13 AM GLENELG  / 1.48 AM GOLD COAST  / 2.36 AM CHELSEA  / 2.42 AM NEUTRAL BAY  / 3.06 AM TOORAK  / 3.12 AM PASIR PANJANG  / 3.17 AM BRUCE  / 3.34 AM NOTTINGHAM HILL  / 4.01 AM MT HAWTH
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CORE BUSINESS OPERATIONS – CABCHARGE
Growing revenues from our core business are 
a refl ection of the increased use of electronic 
transactions which are now an established “way 
of life” for our customers. During the year under 
review, electronic payments represented 57% of 
all transactions. This percentage is expected to 
increase signifi cantly, with the introduction of 
E-Ticket transactions, in the latter part of 2005.

We expect to budget for growth in our core 
operations as Australia continues to be a highly 
favoured tourist and business conference 
destination. This growth will be aided by realistic 
fare increases in Victoria – the fi rst since 2001 
- and continued Government support to ensure 
taxi owners and drivers are realistically rewarded 
for the service they provide - in general without 
government subsidy.

Ongoing State and Federal Government regulatory 
policies provide a continuous challenge to how 
we manage our business. To this end, we have 
to ensure that we factor substantial regulatory 
reforms into our development plans and give 
proper consideration to governance issues in 
operations and reporting. 

Our industry has positioned itself well by 
embracing technological change and upgrades 
to infrastructure. This has enabled us to anticipate 
our customers’ needs and provide them with 
outstanding value and quality service.

TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENTS, R&D, 
NEW INVESTMENTS
Since its formation in 1976, Cabcharge has been a 
leading developer of state-of-the-art technology, 
and in the past year we have spent $20 million 
maintaining and increasing our lead. 

As outlined in last year’s report, we are at the 
forefront in the adoption of GPRS technology with 
EMV and Triple DES compliance. I am pleased to 
report that the GPRS rollout which started in NSW 
during the last quarter of 2004, has now been 
successfully completed in all States. We initially set 
out to complete 12,500 units but we now have 
approximately 17,000 in operation and the fl ow-on 
will be refl ected in our 2006 results.

This new system with inbuilt GPS functions 
ensures maximum network coverage. The system 
automatically registers destination details and 
meter fares delivering signifi cant benefi ts to 
Australian communities that Cabcharge serves and 
to the Company itself. We are progressing well 
with our plans to integrate our system with taxi 
groups across the country who wish to participate.

The increased use of electronic road tolling in 
our everyday lives is evident. Consumers of our 
services are often confused about changing tolls 
and charges. We believe that operators, drivers and 
consumers should have a transparent system in 
place. To achieve this, Cabcharge has developed its 
own E-Tag solution in response to State mandates 
that there should be greater disclosure about 
toll charges on taxi meters. The end-to-end pilot 
scheme is almost complete in Melbourne and will 
start shortly in Sydney. 

“meeting the challenge of
           growing our business”
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ORN  / 4.08 AM SEMBAWANG  / 4.23 AM CROWS NEST  / 4.48 PM LUTANA  / 5.04 AM TIWI  / 5.10 AM BUKIT TIMAH  / 5.18 AM UNLEY  / 5.52 AM TRINITY  / 5.54 AM SHOREDITCH  / 6.00 AM RICHMOND  / 6.06 AM SANY BAY  / 6.13 AM EVATT  / 6.28 AM FANNIE BAY    / 6.29 AM
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DISTRIBUTING MORE CARDS by providing corporate and personal accounts 24/7  by und
own ATM network to support drivers and operators 24/7  by making docket reconciliation easier 24/7  by making char
of payment 24/7  by improving the way that drivers are paid 24/7  by creating our own ATM network to support drive
corporate and personal accounts 24/7  by understanding taxi customers want ease of payment 24/7  by improving the 
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CABCHARGE 
RECOGNISES THAT 
DRIVERS AND 
CUSTOMERS WANT 
A SYSTEM THAT 
ALLOWS THEM TO 
PAY FOR THEIR TRIPS 
EASILY. THE BLUE 
DOCKET SYSTEM 
WILL CONTINUE TO 
EVOLVE TO MEET 
NEW DEMANDS FROM 
TAXI CUSTOMERS. 
OUR COMMITMENT IS 
TO ANTICIPATE OUR 
CUSTOMERS’ NEEDS 
AND  CONSTANTLY 
STRIVE TO PROVIDE 
THEM WITH 
OUTSTANDING VALUE 
AND SERVICE.

derstanding taxi customers want ease of payment 24/7  by improving the way that drivers are paid 24/7  by creating our 
rges transparent 24/7  by providing corporate and personal accounts 24/7  by understanding taxi customers want ease 
ers and operators 24/7  by making docket reconciliation easier 24/7  by making charges transparent 24/7  by providing 
way that drivers are paid 24/7 
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Other signifi cant developments include:
•  E Tickets which will replace the Cabcharge blue 

dockets. The introduction will commence on 
completion of the GPRS rollout and we anticipate 
it bringing close to 100% satisfaction levels from 
users when introduced.

•  The smartcard technology pilot for NSW Ministry 
of Transport’s taxi subsidy scheme. This was 
successfully completed on 2 September 2005.

•  Cabcharge ATM network. As part of our 
commitment to ensure owners and drivers 
receive their payments quickly, we have installed 
two pilot ATMs for use with a Cabcharge created 
debit card. When we are satisfi ed with this 
solution, we will install a network of Cabcharge 
ATMs at relevant taxi-related points across 
Australia for the convenience of our drivers. 

We have managed to drive down our 
communication costs by now using three carriers 
(Telstra, Vodafone and Optus) for our GPRS 
system. In previous years we could only use Telstra. 
In addition, we have successfully negotiated with 
the banks to reduce their transaction costs. 

Once again, we have demonstrated that our 
technology development has brought Cabcharge 
signifi cant fi nancial returns and we will continue 
to derive benefi ts from this approach in the 
years ahead. 

We continue to ensure the ongoing development 
of technological skills in the Company to promote 
initiative and creativity. In addition, Cabcharge 
has a commitment to industry regulators, the 
authorities and the community to uphold and 
improve industry standards.

JOINT VENTURES, INTERNATIONAL 
DEVELOPMENTS
Our international operations have progressed 
steadily. During the past year, Com Cab in 
London has delivered improved profi ts and we 
are expecting further growth and cost effi ciencies 
from this business. 

We continued our focus on UK business with our 
major partner, Singapore-based ComfortDelGro. 
This company is the second-largest listed land 
transport operator in the world with operations in 
Singapore, the UK, Ireland, Vietnam, Malaysia and 
China. Our joint venture, CityFleet (UK) Pte Ltd., 
provides taxi radio services for some 3,500 cabs in 
Edinburgh and Aberdeen. 

The past year has seen the start of a restructure of 
our UK operations. The Edinburgh call centre is to 
merge with the Aberdeen centre which will now 
handle all calls from London and Edinburgh. This 
will allow our staff to better handle the calls while 
delivering greater cost effi ciencies for the business. 

The call centre merger is set for completion around 
the time of the publication of this annual report. 
It has been an exciting change in our approach and 
has the potential to reward some of our efforts. 
We have provided the technical support teams for 
the installation after very carefully planning the 
restructure with our ComfortDelGro colleagues.

The UK, particularly London, has recently seen 
the horrors of terrorism and its impact on the 
community and business. No business wants to 
be the benefi ciary of windfall profi ts from horrifi c 
incidents, but it was inevitable in London that the 
bus and taxi industries would have to carry large 
increases in patronage due to these sad events.

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT
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/ 6.41 AM DURAL  / 6.58 AM PAYA LEBAR  / 7.02 AM ROMFORD  / 7.11 AM EPSOM  / 7.21 AM CASURINA  / 7.33 AM SOUTHPORT  / 7.43 AM CAMPBELL  / 7.55 AM MOONAH  / 8.04 AM STURT  / 8.23 AM MOSMAN  / 8.36 AM WELSHPOOL  / 8.44 AM KATONG  / 9.12 AM CRAIGMILL
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ACQUISITIONS
While there were no new acquisitions during 
the fi nancial year under review, we can report 
on an exciting post-balance sheet development. 
This was the acquisition, in August 2005, of 
Westbus in partnership with ComfortDelGro. 
The purchase price was approximately $107 million. 
ComfortDelGro will hold a 51% interest in this 
operation and Cabcharge will hold 49%. 

Westbus is the dominant bus operator in the 
rapidly growing region of Western Sydney and in 
the Hunter Valley through its Blue Ribbon Services. 
Westbus operates a fl eet of 614 buses (around 
25% of all private buses in NSW), employs 960 
staff and operates from eight depots (six Westbus 
owned depots in Sydney) and two leased in the 
Hunter Region – at Thornton, near Maitland, 
and Singleton.

The bus company is projected to generate revenue 
of $110 million and EBITDA of $18 million in its 
fi rst full year of operation under the new bus 
contract regime being implemented by the NSW 
Government. 

This acquisition will give Cabcharge an opportunity 
to broaden its base and take its fi rst steps to 
become a land transport company similar to 
ComfortDelGro. Not only will it give Cabcharge 
an immediate critical mass in bus operations, but 
it will also provide us with an avenue for growth. 
In addition, it enables ComfortDelGro to widen its 
global footprint while working with Cabcharge, 
which it considers a strong local partner. 

There are good synergies between bus and taxi 
companies and these will be exploited in the future 
to maximise the return on our investment.

   

SERVING THE COMMUNITY
Over the years, Cabcharge has been meeting 
the needs of those in the community who are 
transport disadvantaged. We have worked 
consistently with State and Territory Governments 
to provide systems to support the various transport 
subsidy schemes.

Some of our key initiatives in NSW during the past 
year include:
•  forming a working committee with the NSW 

Ministry of Transport and the NSW Taxi Council 
to monitor the performance of wheelchair 
accessible taxis

•  consulting with the Ministry of Transport to 
ensure that wheelchair accessible taxi vehicles 
operate within the conditions of their licence 

•  working closely with the Ministry of Transport 
and participants in the taxi transport subsidy 
scheme to introduce a user-friendly system for 
the payment of taxi fares.

“ technology development has
brought Cabcharge signifi cant
fi nancial returns”
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LAR  / 9.42 AM WAGGA WAGGA  / 9.50 AM FLEMINGTON  / 9.52 AM APPLECROSS  / 10.02 AM KATONG  / 10.14 AM HOMEBUSH  / 10.28 AM RISDON  / 10.34 AM WEST HAM  / 10.46 AM ADDINGTON  / 11.05 AM LONDON  / 11.11 AM BELAIR  / 11.23 AM WODEN VALLEY  / 11.46 AM 
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INTRODUCING SUPERIOR TECHNOLOGY by understanding our customers’ n
services that make it easier and safer for drivers 24/7  by building integrated systems that link seamlessly 24/7  by stayi
can deliver real benefi ts to drivers, operators and our customers 24/7  by providing services that make it easier and sa
curve 24/7  by understanding our customers’ needs 24/7  by recognising technology can deliver real benefi ts to drivers,



11

CABCHARGE IS 
COMMITTED TO 
DELIVERING THE BEST 
SYSTEMS FOR DRIVERS, 
OPERATORS AND TAXI 
CUSTOMERS. TO DO 
THIS WE HAVE HAD 
TO INVEST MANY 
MILLIONS OF DOLLARS 
IN DEVELOPING STATE 
OF THE ART SYSTEMS 
FOR THE AUSTRALIAN 
MARKET. WE WILL 
CONTINUE TO REVIEW 
THE NEEDS OF OUR 
STAKEHOLDERS TO 
ENSURE CABCHARGE 
REMAINS THE TAXI-
INDUSTRY LEADER.

eeds 24/7  by recognising technology can deliver real benefi ts to drivers, operators and our customers 24/7  by providing 
ing at the front of the technology curve 24/7  by understanding our customers’ needs 24/7  by recognising technology 
afer for drivers 24/7  by building integrated systems that link seamlessly 24/7  by staying at the front of the technology 
, operators and our customers 24/7  
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In Victoria, the taxi industry and the State 
Government are working together on a review of 
taxi country operations. Of particular interest to 
the review committee is the viability of wheelchair 
accessible taxis in country areas and the potential 
to increase the role they play in government-
funded community transport. Other Victorian 
initiatives include: 
•  the issue of an additional 100 Peak Service 

Licences in Melbourne by the Victorian 
Government to enable the industry to keep pace 
with demand for taxi services

•  the activation of additional wheelchair accessible 
taxi licences in Melbourne. This will increase the 
reliability of service for people with wheelchairs 
and assist in the better movement of small 
groups during the coming Commonwealth 
Games.

As in previous years, Cabcharge continues to liaise 
with manufacturers to produce vehicles suitable 
for the transport of people with disabilities and 
to identify specifi c taxi-transport and customer 
service needs. Our training courses for wheelchair 
accessible taxi drivers and radio room operators are 
ongoing, and we also provide some country taxi 
networks with appropriate driver training for these 
special vehicles.

We have always believed it is Cabcharge’s 
responsibility to support the disabled, the 
disadvantaged and the elderly, and the Company’s 
active participation in various schemes is evidence 
of our long-term commitment.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE AND REFORM
Cabcharge is well prepared for the adoption of 
the Australian Equivalents to Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS) and recognises the importance 
of transparency, accountability and regulatory 
compliance. The main infl uences of AIFRS on the 
Cabcharge’s group accounts are expected to be:
• recognition of a deferred tax asset of $1.9 million
•  a deferred tax liability of $384,000 relating to 

asset revaluations
•  a profi t increase $552,000 due to a reversal of 

goodwill amortisation. 

Further details of these are set out in the 
Notes to the Accounts.

Cabcharge has established a project team to 
manage the transition to AIFRS. This includes 
training of staff, system and internal control 
changes and an assessment of the signifi cance 
of these changes. The project team is chaired by  
Ewaz Barukh, Cabcharge’s Chief Financial Offi cer, 
and reports to the Audit Committee. We have also 
engaged independent consultants to assist in the 
assessment of these changes. 

As in previous years, we are dedicated to 
compliance and disclosure and are focused on 
protecting the goodwill and interests of our 
shareholders. 

OUR PEOPLE 
Our people are vital to the success of our 
operations, and we provide them with a 
challenging environment and ample opportunity 
for promotion and development.

Cabcharge staff are trained with a view that 
they take full ownership of their duties and 
responsibilities. We also subscribe to a policy of 
total equal opportunity to all irrespective of race, 
creed and gender.

Security within the workplace is important to us 
and we ensure that we have trained people ready 
and able to assist in any emergency.

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT
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OUTLOOK 
Cabcharge is poised to broaden its business 
interests in the year ahead, and to derive 
further benefi ts from our payments technology. 
Importantly, we aim to deliver the long-term 
earnings growth that our shareholders have come 
to expect from us. 

The proposed implementation of Cabcharge debit 
cards via Cabcharge-owned ATMs is an exciting 
development that will be rolled out during the 
coming year. The benefi ts include improved 
payment fl ow to drivers and operators, the 
elimination of paper work and greater security for 
both drivers and passengers. 

We expect to grow market share through 
third-party cards and through the current Visa 
campaign. 

We will be reviewing the structure of our UK joint 
interests with ComfortDelGro, which will further 
enhance the contribution from our international 
operations.

The Company will pursue further acquisitions, 
but always mindful that they have to be negotiated 
to the benefi t of Cabcharge’s shareholders. We 
are looking at opportunities in NSW and Victoria 
and a possible acquisition in the payments sector. 
In addition, we are looking into the feasibility of 
obtaining an exchange settlement account which 
would allow us to process our own payments 
instead of using banks for these transactions. 

As already mentioned, the recent Westbus 
acquisition presents us with an opportunity to 
become a land transport operator and to establish 
even closer contacts with our major partner, 
ComfortDelGro.

The excellent results delivered by Cabcharge have 
strengthened the value of the company both 
nationally and internationally. We look forward 
to supporting the needs of the industry and the 
communities we serve for many years to come. 

APPRECIATION
Exceptional results demand exceptional execution. 
This past year has demonstrated the expertise and 
dedication of Cabcharge’s Board, management 
and staff. I thank all of them for their ongoing 
efforts, commitment and dedication. 

I would also like to express my sincere appreciation 
to the hundreds of taxi drivers and call centre 
management and staff who have served our 
communities so effectively.

The past year was indeed a rewarding one in which 
we prepared a strong platform for the years ahead.

With the ongoing contribution and effort of so 
many people at Cabcharge, I view the future of our 
company with great optimism. 

REG KERMODE
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 
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DELIVERING BETTER RESULTS by focusing on all aspects of our business 24/7  by a strate
24/7 by maintaining a commitment to delivering tangible shareholder value 24/7  by focusing on margins and the wa
our core businesses 24/7  by working with a joint partner to build international operations 24/7 by maintaining a comm
24/7  by focusing on all aspects of our business 24/7  by a strategy of careful expansion in our core businesses 24/7  by w
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egy of careful expansion in our core businesses 24/7  by working with a joint partner to build international operations 
ay Cabcharge does business 24/7  by focusing on all aspects of our business 24/7  by a strategy of careful expansion in 
mitment to delivering tangible shareholder value 24/7  by focusing on margins and the way Cabcharge does business 
working with a joint partner to build international operations 24/7 

CABCHARGE IS 
COMMITTED TO 
DELIVERING TANGIBLE 
SHAREHOLDER VALUE. 
WE HAVE TAKEN TIME 
TO GET THE BASICS 
RIGHT SO THAT WE 
CAN CONTINUE TO 
IMPROVE CABCHARGE’S 
RESULTS. OUR AIM IS 
TO BE AMONGST THE 
BEST PERFORMING 
LAND TRANSPORT 
COMPANIES GLOBALLY. 
WE ARE ALWAYS 
LOOKING TO SOLVE 
THE PROBLEMS 
THAT COULD LIMIT 
OUR GROWTH AND 
PROFITABILITY.
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BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS

MR REGINALD LIONEL 
KERMODE AM MBE

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN 
AND CEO

Founder of Cabcharge 
in 1976, Chairman, 
Managing Director 
and Chief Executive 
Offi cer since 27 July 
1980. Member of 
the Investment and 
Mergers & Acquisitions 
Committees. 
Mr Kermode is a Director 
of Cabcharge Asia 
Pte Limited, Director 
of Computer Cab plc, 
London and Director 
of CityFleet (UK) Pte 
Ltd. Mr Kermode is 
also a director of other 
Cabcharge Group 
entities. Mr Kermode 
is a past President of 
the New South Wales 
Taxi Council and retired 
Director of the NSW Taxi 
Industry Association. 
He is a Fellow of The 
Australian Institute 
of Company Directors 
and a Fellow of The 
Australian Institute 
of Management. 

MR EWAZ BARUKH 
EXECUTIVE CFO

Director since 
19 November 1998. 
Member of the 
Investment and 
Mergers & Acquisitions 
Committees. Mr Barukh 
is also a Director of 
other Cabcharge Group 
entities. He has been the 
Chief Financial Offi cer 
of the Company since 
1985, and has signifi cant 
experience in the fi elds 
of funds management, 
technology and the 
Australian taxi industry. 
Mr Barukh is a Bachelor 
of Economics and is 
an Associate of the 
Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

MR IAN ALEXANDER 
ARMSTRONG
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Director since 17 July 
2000. Chairman of 
the Audit, Risk & 
Nomination Committee 
and member of the 
Mergers & Acquisitions 
Committee. Mr 
Armstrong is a Fellow of 
the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia. 
He was a partner with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
for 23 years of which 
15 years were in the fi eld 
of corporate fi nance. 

MR NEILL DOUGLAS 
FORD
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Director since 21 March 
1996 and member 
of the Remuneration, 
Investment and 
Marketing Committees. 
Mr Ford is the Managing 
Director of Yellow 
Cabs (Qld) Pty Limited 
and Chairman of Taxis 
Australia Pty Limited. 
He has in excess of 
23 years’ experience 
in taxi company 
management. Mr Ford is 
a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company 
Directors and Fellow of 
the Australian Institute 
of Management. 

/ 4.38 PM AMITY POINT  / 4.44 PM JURONG ISLAND  / 4.52 PM KINGSTON  / 5.11 PM SHELLEY  / 5.18 PM DYCE  / 5.23 PM BATTERSEA  / 5.31 PM SILVERWATER  / 5.56 PM ORCHARD ROAD / 6.01 PM WOODVILLE  / 6.12 PM NEWPORT  / 6.48 PM TOLMANS HILL  / 7.12 PM KANDA
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MR PHILLIP JAMES 
FRANET
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Director since 
28 June 1985. 
Mr Franet is a member 
of the Risk Oversight 
and Management 
Committee. Mr Franet 
is the Chief Executive 
Offi cer of Silver Top 
Taxi Service Ltd and 
President of Victorian 
Taxi Association (Inc). 
Mr Franet has over 
30 years’ experience in 
the taxi industry and 
has consulted to the 
Emirate of Dubai on the 
establishment of a large 
taxi operation including 
the establishment of 
charge account services 
in Dubai.

MR PETER JOHN HYER
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Director since 25 June 
1996. Member of the 
Remuneration and the 
Audit, Risk & Nomination 
Committees. Mr Hyer 
is the Chairman and 
Managing Director of 
Adelhill Limited – parent 
entity of Premier Cabs 
Pty Limited, Director 
of Cumberland Cabs 
Company Pty Limited, 
Director of Western 
Districts Cabs (NSW) Pty 
Limited, and Director of 
Northern Districts Taxis 
(Sydney) Pty Limited. 
Mr Hyer is a Fellow of 
the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

MR DONNALD STUART 
McMICHAEL
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Director since 25 June 
1996 and member 
of the Risk Oversight 
& Management 
Committee. 
Mr McMichael is 
a member of the 
Australian Institute 
of Management and 
Australian Society of 
Association Executives. 
He is an Associate of 
the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors 
and was formerly a 
Chairman of Aerial Taxi 
Co-Op Society Limited 
and a Director of Yellow 
Cabs (Canberra) Pty Ltd.

THE HON NEVILLE 
WRAN AC QC 
NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR

Director since 
28 November 2000. 
Member of the Audit, 
Risk & Nomination 
Committee and 
Mergers & Acquisitions 
Committee. Mr Wran is 
the Executive Chairman 
of Wran Partners Pty 
Ltd. Mr Wran is also a 
Director of a number 
of other companies. 
He was the Premier 
of New South Wales 
from 1976 to 1986 and 
National President of 
the Australian Labor 
Party from 1980 to 
1986. Mr Wran was 
the Chairman of CSIRO 
from 1986 to 1991. 
He is a Fellow of the 
Powerhouse Museum, 
a Life Governor of the 
Art Gallery of New South 
Wales and Chairman of 
the Victor Chang Cardiac 
Research Institute. He 
is a Governor of the 
Australia Israel Chamber 
of Commerce and the 
Honorary Chairman 
of the Trans-Tasman 
Business Circle.

ALLAH  / 7.21 PM AVALON  / 7.27 PM POPLAR  / 7.59 PM EDEN HILLS  / 8.09 PM CAPITAL HILL  / 8.16 PM HOWICK  / 8.24 PM SHAWLANDS  / 8.31 PM VICTOR HARBOUR  / 8.42 PM BLACKTOWN  / 8.51 PM STIRLING  / 9.01 PM REMUERA  / 9.09 PM PORT NOARLUNGA  / 
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The Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited present their 
Annual Report on the Company and its controlled entities for 
the year ended 30 June 2005.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited in offi ce at any 
time during or since the end of the year are as follows:
Mr RL Kermode  Executive Chairman and CEO
Mr E Barukh  Executive CFO
Mr IA Armstrong Non-Executive Director
Mr ND Ford Non-Executive Director
Mr PJ Franet  Non-Executive Director
Mr PJ Hyer Non-Executive Director
Mr DS McMichael Non-Executive Director
The Hon NK Wran Non-Executive Director

All Directors have held offi ce for the full year and to the date 
of this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms S Doyle held the position of Company Secretary at the end 
of the fi nancial year. Ms Doyle is admitted as a Solicitor of the 
Supreme Court of New South Wales and joined the Cabcharge 
group 11 years ago. She was appointed Company Secretary in 
2001 and continues her role as Corporate Counsel. 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The economic entity’s principal activity is the provision of a 
taxi charge account service business and related services to the 
taxi industry.

OPERATING RESULTS
The economic entity’s net profi t after income tax attributable 
to members of Cabcharge Australia Limited amounted to 
$27,230,000 (2004: $23,132,000).

DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid or declared for payment since the end of the 
previous fi nancial year are as follows:

   Paid or declared  
Date paid or scheduled Type Cents per share $000

In respect of the prior year

15 October 2004 Final 7.25 8,124

In respect of the current year

31 March 2005 Interim 8.0 8,979

18 October 2005 Final 9.0  10,101

All dividends paid or declared by the Company were fully 
franked at a tax rate of 30%.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
A summary of key fi nancial indicators is set out in the 
table below. Commentary on the results is included in the 
Chairman’s report.

 2005 2004 Growth
 ($m) ($m)  (%)

Total revenue  780.1 693.5 12

Profi t after tax  27.2 23.1 18

Earnings before interest 
and tax (EBIT) 36.3 30.6 19

Earnings before interest, 
tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) 48.1 39.5 22

Contributed equity  72.4 71.8 1

Capital and reserves  138.0 126.7 9

Total assets employed  166.5 158.4 5

Dividends paid or declared  19.1 15.4 24

Franking account balance at 
30% tax 35.8 32.1 

 (cents) (cents) 

Earnings per share – basic  24.3 20.6 18

Net tangible asset per share  115.0 105.3 9

Dividend per share 17.0 13.75 24

 (%) (%)  

Return on contributed equity  37.6 32.2 17

Dividend payout ratio 70.1 66.7 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no signifi cant changes in the state of affairs of the 
economic entity during the year under review.

POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS
No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the 
fi nancial year, which signifi cantly affected or may signifi cantly 
affect the operations of the economic entity, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the economic entity 
in subsequent fi nancial years other than:

On 22 August 2005, the Company advised the Australian 
Stock Exchange that it had taken a signifi cant interest in 
dominant Western Sydney bus operator, the Westbus Group. 
Cabcharge has taken a 49% stake in the joint venture entity, 
ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd, while ComfortDelGro 
Corporation Limited, the world’s second largest listed land 
transport operator, holds a 51% stake. The joint venture 
company’s cost of acquisition of the business and assets of 
Westbus is expected to be approximately $106.7 million cash. 
The acquisition is due for completion by 30 September 2005.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Directors are of the opinion that the new fi nancial 
year will be a period of continued growth. Other than the 
information disclosed in the review of operations or notes 
to the fi nancial statements, further information as to the 
likely developments in the operations of the economic entity 
and the expected results of those operations in subsequent 
years has not been included in this report because the 
Directors believe, on reasonable grounds, that to include such 
information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice 
to the economic entity.

ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES
The economic entity’s operations are not regulated by any 
particular and signifi cant environmental regulations under a 
law of the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Mr Reginald Lionel Kermode AM MBE 
(78 years) Executive Chairman and CEO

Founder of Cabcharge in 1976, Chairman, Managing Director 
and Chief Executive Offi cer since 27 July 1980. Member of 
the Investment and Mergers & Acquisitions Committees. Mr 
Kermode is a Director of Cabcharge Asia Pte Limited, Director 

of Computer Cab plc, London and Director of CityFleet (UK) 
Pte Ltd. Mr Kermode is also a director of other Cabcharge 
Group entities. Mr Kermode is a past President of the New 
South Wales Taxi Council and retired Director of the NSW Taxi 
Industry Association. He is a Fellow of The Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and a Fellow of The Australian Institute 
of Management.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.

Mr Ewaz Barukh 
(57 years) Executive CFO

Director since 19 November 1998. Member of the Investment 
and Mergers & Acquisitions Committees. Mr Barukh is a 
Director of other Cabcharge Group entities. He has been the 
Chief Financial Offi cer of the Company since 1985, and has 
signifi cant experience in the fi elds of funds management, 
technology and the Australian taxi industry. Mr Barukh is a 
Bachelor of Economics and is an Associate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.

Mr Ian Alexander Armstrong 
(63 years) Non-Executive Director

Director since 17 July 2000. Chairman of the Audit, Risk 
& Nomination Committee and member of the Mergers & 
Acquisitions Committee. Mr Armstrong is a Fellow of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He was a 
partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers for 23 years of which 
15 years were in the fi eld of corporate fi nance.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.

Mr Neill Douglas Ford 
(55 years) Non-Executive Director

Director since 21 March 1996 and member of the 
Remuneration, Investment and Marketing Committees. 
Mr Ford is the Managing Director of Yellow Cabs (Qld) 
Pty Limited and Chairman of Taxis Australia Pty Limited. 
He has in excess of 23 years’ experience in taxi company 
management. Mr Ford is a Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Management.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.
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Mr Phillip James Franet 
(60 years) Non-Executive Director

Director since 28 June 1985. Mr Franet is a member of the 
Risk Oversight and Management Committee. Mr Franet is 
the Chief Executive Offi cer of Silver Top Taxi Service Ltd and 
President of Victorian Taxi Association (Inc). Mr Franet has over 
30 years’ experience in the taxi industry and has consulted 
to the Emirate of Dubai on the establishment of a large taxi 
operation including the establishment of charge account 
services in Dubai.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.

Mr Peter John Hyer 
(69 years) Non-Executive Director

Director since 25 June 1996. Member of the Remuneration 
and the Audit, Risk & Nomination Committees. Mr Hyer is the 
Chairman and Managing Director of Adelhill Limited – parent 
entity of Premier Cabs Pty Limited, Director of Cumberland 
Cabs Company Pty Limited, Director of Western Districts Cabs 
(NSW) Pty Limited, and Director of Northern Districts Taxis 
(Sydney) Pty Limited. Mr Hyer is a Fellow of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.

Mr Donnald Stuart McMichael 
(53 years) Non-Executive Director

Director since 25 June 1996 and member of the Risk Oversight 
& Management Committee. Mr McMichael is a member of the 
Australian Institute of Management and Australian Society of 
Association Executives. He is an Associate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors and was formerly a Chairman 
of Aerial Taxi Co-Op Society Limited and a Director of Yellow 
Cabs (Canberra) Pty Ltd.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time during 
the three years to 30 June 2005 – nil.

The Hon Neville Wran AC QC (Hon) LLD FRSA 
(79 years) Non-Executive Director

Director since 28 November 2000. Member of the Audit, 
Risk & Nomination Committee and Mergers & Acquisitions 
Committee. Mr Wran is the Executive Chairman of Wran 
Partners Pty Ltd. Mr Wran is also a Director of a number of 
other companies. He was the Premier of New South Wales 

from 1976 to 1986 and National President of the Australian 
Labor Party from 1980 to 1986. Mr Wran was the Chairman 
of CSIRO from 1986 to 1991. He is a Fellow of the Powerhouse 
Museum, a Life Governor of the Art Gallery of New South 
Wales and Chairman of the Victor Chang Cardiac Research 
Institute. He is a Governor of the Australia Israel Chamber of 
Commerce and the Honorary Chairman of the Trans-Tasman 
Business Circle.

Directorships of other listed companies held at any time 
during the three years to 30 June 2005 – Mr Wran is currently 
a director of WebCentral Group Ltd (ASX code: WCG) and 
Zinico Resources NL (ASX code: ZCO). Previously, within the 
three year period, Mr Wran was a director of (1) InfraCorp 
Limited (ASX code: IFC) until his resignation on 12 July 2002; 
(2) Powerlan Ltd (ASX code: PWR) until his resignation on 
17 July 2002; (3) eBet Ltd (ASX code EBT) until his resignation 
on 23 August 2002.

RELEVANT INTERESTS

 Direct Interest Indirect Interest
 Shares Shares  Note 

Executive Directors
RL Kermode (CEO)  1,200,000 –  

E Barukh (CFO) 545,630 25,477 1

Non-Executive Directors
IA Armstrong 250,000 – 

ND Ford – 1,334,423 2

PJ Franet 350,370 – 

PJ Hyer – 1,171,260 3

DS McMichael 830 7,500 4

NK Wran  250,000 –

1  25,477 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held jointly by Mr Ewaz 
Barukh and Mrs Katherine Barukh.

2  1,060,288 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Queensland 
Taxi Investments Pty Limited in which Mr Ford is a Director 
and Shareholder; 274,135 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by 
NL Ford Nominees Pty Ltd Super Fund.

3  166,667 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Windcode Pty 
Ltd; 1,004,593 shares held by Adelhill Limited in which Mr 
Hyer is Chairman, Managing Director and Shareholder.

4  7,500 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares held by Donren Holdings 
Superannuation account.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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SHARE OPTIONS
No share options were granted during the year and to the date 
of this report, and there were no options outstanding at the 
end of the fi nancial year.

CONTRACTS WITH DIRECTORS
There are no contracts –
(i)   to which a Director is a party or under which a Director 

is entitled to a benefi t, and
(ii)  that confers a right to call for or deliver shares in, or 

debentures of or interests in a registered scheme made 
available by the Company or a related body corporate.

OTHER INTERESTS
No Director has relevant interests in, or rights or options over 
debentures, or interests in a registered scheme made available 
by the Company or a related body corporate.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of Directors’ Meetings which Directors were 
eligible to attend (including Committee Meetings) and the 
number attended by each Director during the year ended 
30 June 2005 were:

 DIRECTORS MEETINGS COMMITTEE MEETINGS

 Audit, Risk & Nomination Remuneration Investment Risk Oversight &
 Committee Committee Committee Management Committee

 Number  Number  Number  Number  Number 
 Eligible Number Eligible Number Eligible Number Eligible Number Eligible Number
 to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended to Attend Attended

RL Kermode (CEO) 10 10 – – – – 2 2 – –

E Barukh (CFO) 10 10 – – – – 2 2 – –

IA Armstrong 10 9 2 2 – – – – – –

ND Ford 10 10 – – 2 2 2 2 – –

PJ Franet 10 10 – – – – – – 2 2

PJ Hyer 10 10 2 2 2 2 – – – –

DS McMichael 10 9 – – – – – – 2 2

NK Wran 10 10 2 2 – – – – – –

INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE PREMIUMS FOR 
DIRECTORS/OFFICERS AND AUDITORS
The Company has not during or since the reporting period:
(a)  given any indemnity to a current or former offi cer or 

auditor against a liability that is covered by Sub Section 
199A (2) or (3), or any relevant agreement under which 
an offi cer or auditor may be given an indemnity of that 
kind; or

(b)  paid or agreed to pay a premium for insurance against 
current or former offi cers’ or auditors’ liability for legal 
costs except indemnities as provided in the Constitution, 
and having paid premiums for contracts for its Directors 
and Offi cers (being those Directors and Offi cers listed 
under the heading Remuneration Report) which contracts 
do not insure against a liability (other than for legal costs) 
arising out of:

 (i)  conduct involving a willful breach of duty in relation to 
the Company; or

 (ii)  a contravention of Sections 182 and 183 of the
Corporations Act 2001.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company or intervene in any proceedings 
to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of 
those proceedings. The Company was not a party to any such 
proceedings during the year.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES BY AUDITORS
Non-audit services provided by the auditors of the 
consolidated entity were for the provision of taxation 
compliance services for which fees were paid or payable of 
$20,000 (2004: $15,000). The Directors are satisfi ed that the 
provision of non-audit services during the year is compatible 
with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed under the Corporations Act 2001.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The lead auditor’s independence declaration in relation to the 
audit for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2005 is printed on 
page 23.

REMUNERATION REPORT
Remuneration Policy
Remuneration of the Directors and the Executive Offi cers 
is the responsibility of the Remuneration Committee. 
The Committee obtains advice where necessary to ensure 
that the Company attracts and retains talented and motivated 
directors and employees who can enhance Cabcharge’s 
performance through their leadership and management skill.

For Executive Offi cers and Specifi ed Executives, Cabcharge’s 
remuneration package is substantially cash-based. There is 
no share-based remuneration. Performance-based payments 
are related to Company performance. In determining 
performance-based payments, the Committee exercises 

its discretion having regard to the overall performance of 
the Company and the individual. 

Non-Executive Directors receive fees only and are not paid 
performance-based payments.

Service Agreements
Executive Directors
• No service agreement, no fi xed term
•  A base salary package and performance bonus is determined 

by the Remuneration Committee and the Board from time 
to time.

Specifi ed Executives
The terms of employment for the Specifi ed Executives are 
formalised in service agreements. All of the agreements are 
on the same basis. The major provision of the service 
agreement is:
•  3 years term with 3 months notice of termination or 

redundancy required.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

   Directors’  Superannuation Non-cash Total  Total
 Salary fees contributed benefi ts 2005 2004
a) Directors’ details and remuneration: ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

RL Kermode   1,547,196   –     –     14,564   1,561,760*  1,150,000 

E Barukh   663,526   –     88,586   105,388   857,500*  650,000 

IA Armstrong  –     6,900   61,560   –     68,460   55,000 

ND Ford  –     62,805   5,655   –     68,460   60,000 

PJ Franet  –     57,550   5,180   –     62,730   55,000 

PJ Hyer  –     62,805   5,655   –     68,460   60,000 

DS McMichael  –     57,550   5,180   –     62,730   55,000 

NK Wran  –     68,460   –     –     68,460   55,000 

GF Bradd  –     –     –    –     –     9,167 

Total remuneration for the directors  2,210,722   316,070   171,816  119,952   2,818,560   2,149,167 
* Includes performance bonus payments determined by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.

     

    Superannuation Non-cash Total  Total
  Salary contributed benefi ts 2005 2004
b) Specifi ed executives’ details and remuneration:  ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Specifi ed executives
F Lukabyo   284,000   11,808   7,612   303,420   300,000 

S Doyle   297,494   12,864   12,585   322,943   291,329 

G Bradd    181,841   93,591   24,568   300,000  250,000 

Total remuneration for specifi ed executives   763,335   118,263   44,765   926,363   841,329 

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
Cabcharge is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class 
Order 98/100 dated 10 July 1998 and in accordance with that 
Class Order, amounts in the fi nancial report and the Directors’ 
Report have been rounded-off to the nearest thousand 
dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors

NEVILLE WRAN PETER HYER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Sydney, 26 September 2005
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To the Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited:

In accordance with Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, 
for the audit for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 2005 there have been:

1. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001; and

2. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct.

BLACKETT & LEWIS 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

BRYAN BIRD 
PARTNER

Sydney, 26 September 2005

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION
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The Board of Cabcharge Australia Limited is responsible for 
the Corporate Governance of the Company. In accordance 
with the Australian Stock Exchange Corporate Governance 
Council’s “Principles of Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations” Cabcharge reviewed its 
governance policies and procedures and a summary of the 
Company’s new policies and procedures is as follows:

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT 
AND OVERSIGHT.
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a company 
should “recognise and publish the respective roles and 
responsibilities of Board and management.”

The Cabcharge Board has adopted a Charter, which sets out 
the functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to 
management. 

The Cabcharge Board is responsible for:
•  oversight of Cabcharge, including its control and 

accountability systems
•  appointment and removal of the Chief Executive Offi cer, 

Chief Financial Offi cer and the Company Secretary
•  input into and fi nal approval of management’s development 

of corporate strategy and performance objectives
•  reviewing and ratifying systems of risk management and 

internal compliance and control, codes of conduct and legal 
compliance

•  monitoring senior management’s performance and 
implementation of strategy and ensuring appropriate 
resources are available

•  approving and monitoring the progress of major capital 
expenditure, capital management and acquisitions and 
divestitures

• approving and monitoring fi nancial and other reporting. 

The Board reviews its composition and processes annually. 
Cabcharge also ensures that Directors clearly understand 
corporate expectations of them.

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a 
company should “have a Board of an effective composition, 
size and commitment to adequately discharge its 
responsibilities and duties.”

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position 
of Director held by each Director in offi ce at the date of the 
Annual Report are set out on page 19. The term of offi ce held 
by each Director in offi ce at the date of the Annual Report is 
as follows.

 Term in Offi ce
Name (years)

Mr Reg Kermode 25

Mr Ewaz Barukh 6

Mr Phillip Franet 20

Mr Ian Armstrong 5

Mr Neville Wran 4

Mr Donnald McMichael 9

Mr Neill Ford 9

Mr Peter Hyer 9

It is recommended that a majority of the Board should 
be independent Directors. An independent Director is a 
Non-Executive Director and:
•  is not a substantial shareholder of Cabcharge or an offi cer 

of, or directly or indirectly associated with, a substantial 
shareholder of Cabcharge

•  within the last three years has not been employed in 
an executive capacity by Cabcharge or another group 
member, or been a Director after ceasing to hold any such 
employment

•  within the last three years has not been a principal of a 
material professional advisor or a material consultant to 
Cabcharge or another group member, or an employee 
materially associated with the service provided

•  is not a material supplier or customer of Cabcharge or 
any other group member, or an offi cer of or otherwise 
associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier 
or customer

•  has no material contractual relationship with Cabcharge 
or another group member other than as a Director of 
Cabcharge

•  has not served on the Board for a period which could, or 
could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with 
the Director’s ability to act in the best interests of Cabcharge

•  is free from any interest and any business or relationship, 
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to materially 
interfere with the Director’s ability to act in the best interests 
of Cabcharge.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
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In determining whether an interest or relationship is 
considered to interfere with a Director’s independence, 
the Board has regard to the materiality of the interest or 
relationship. If a Director has a current or prior association 
with a supplier, professional advisor or consultant to 
Cabcharge that supplier, advisor or consultant will be 
considered material:
•  in relation to Cabcharge if any amount payable annually to 

the supplier, advisor or consultant is in excess of 5% of the 
consolidated expenses of the Cabcharge group

•  in relation to a Director if that amount exceeds 5% of the 
supplier’s, advisor’s or consultant’s total revenues.

A customer of Cabcharge would also be considered material if 
the annual amount received by Cabcharge from the customer 
exceeded 5% of the consolidated revenue of the Cabcharge 
group and from a Director’s point of view if that amount 
exceeds 5% of the customer’s total expenses.

None of the Non-Executive Director’s relationships with 
Cabcharge meet the criteria in relation to the 5% materiality 
threshold. Other factors however are also taken into account 
for the purpose of assessing the materiality of relationships 
between a Non-Executive Director and Cabcharge and these 
factors relate to Non-Executive Director activities as a whole.

Taking into account the terms of service and relationship with 
Cabcharge the Company is of the view that the following 
Directors are not independent:
Mr Peter Hyer
Mr Neill Ford
Mr Donnald McMichael
Mr Phillip Franet

The ASX Guidelines recommend that a listed company 
should have a majority of Directors who are independent. 
The Cabcharge Board as currently composed does not comply 
with this recommendation. 

Mr Wran and Mr Armstrong do qualify as independent 
Directors. As a result of the consideration given the Board 
has determined that neither Mr Wran nor Mr Armstrong 
has any past or present relationships which breach the 
materiality threshold or that in the context of their activities 
as a whole neither Mr Wran nor Mr Armstrong has a 
relationship considered signifi cant enough to compromise 
their independence.

Notwithstanding that the majority of Cabcharge Directors 
are not independent, Mr Hyer, Mr Franet, Mr Ford and Mr 
McMichael are segregated from operational management of 
Cabcharge and their commercial knowledge and expertise 
within the taxi industry enables them to effectively carry out 
their responsibilities in accordance with the Board Charter.

The Board of Cabcharge has implemented a procedure 
whereby Directors may take independent professional advice 
at Cabcharge’s expense on matters relating to their role as 
Directors of Cabcharge. Approval for such advice must be 
sought from the Chairman and such approval may not be 
reasonably withheld. If approval is withheld, the Director 
seeking advice may refer the matter to the whole Cabcharge 
Board.

The ASX Guidelines also recommend the roles of Chairperson 
and Chief Executive Offi cer should not be exercised by the 
same individual. Currently Cabcharge does not comply with 
this guideline. The role of Chairman and Chief Executive 
Offi cer of Cabcharge is held by Mr Reg Kermode who has 
held these positions since 27 July 1980. Mr Kermode’s 
leadership and expertise within the taxi industry along with 
his long-term vision for Cabcharge has seen the Company 
grow from a small operation to a company listed on 
the Australian Stock Exchange currently capitalised at 
approximately $660 million for the year ended 30 June 2005. 
The success and continued growth of Cabcharge over the last 
25 years is largely attributable to Mr Kermode’s performance 
as Chairman and Chief Executive Offi cer. Given the fi nancial 
success of Cabcharge, the Board believes it to be inappropriate 
and unnecessary to separate the roles of Chairman and Chief 
Executive Offi cer at this time.

Nomination Committee 
Due to the size of the Cabcharge Board and Company it 
was determined that while a Nomination Committee should 
be established, the duties of the Nomination Committee 
should be carried out by the Audit and Risk Committee. 
The Committee is comprised of Mr Ian Armstrong (Chairman), 
Mr Neville Wran and Mr Peter Hyer. The Committee has 
a Charter that clearly sets out its role and responsibilities, 
composition, structure and membership requirements. 
Responsibilities of the Committee include:
•  assessment of the necessary and desirable competencies 

of the Cabcharge Board members
•  review of the Cabcharge Board succession plans
•  evaluation of the Cabcharge Board’s performance
•  recommendations for the appointment and removal of 

Cabcharge Directors.
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The number of Committee meetings held and attendees are 
set out in the Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 3: CODE OF ETHICS AND CONDUCT
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a company 
should “actively promote ethical and responsible decision 
making”.

The Cabcharge Board has established a Code of Conduct 
to guide its Directors, the Chief Executive Offi cer, the Chief 
Financial Offi cer and its key executives in relation to:
•  the practices necessary to maintain confi dence in 

Cabcharge’s integrity
•  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for 

reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices. 

The Cabcharge Board has established a Code of Ethics and 
Conduct which addresses the following issues:
•  Confl icts of interest – managing situations where the interest 

of a private individual interferes or appears to interfere with 
the interests of Cabcharge as a whole.

•  Corporate opportunities – preventing Directors and key 
executives from taking advantage of property, information 
or position or opportunities arising from these for personal 
gain or to compete with Cabcharge.

•  Confi dentiality – restricting the use of non-public 
information except where disclosure is authorised or legally 
mandated. 

•  Fair dealing – by all employees with Cabcharge’s customers, 
suppliers, competitors and employees.

•  Protection of and proper use of the Company’s assets 
– protecting and ensuring the effi cient use of assets for 
legitimate business purposes.

•  Compliance with laws and regulations – active promotion of 
compliance.

•  Encouraging the reporting of unlawful/unethical behaviour 
– active promotion of ethical behaviour and protection for 
those who report violations in good faith.

Dealing Rules 
Cabcharge also has in place a policy concerning trading in 
Cabcharge securities by Directors, offi cers and employees.

The Cabcharge policy in relation to the trading of Cabcharge 
shares encompasses the following:
•  clearly identifi es the Directors, Offi cers and employees who 

are restricted from trading (Designated Offi cers)
•  identifi es and raises awareness about the prohibitions under 

the law and the requirements of the policy. The policy makes 
it clear that it is inappropriate for the Designated Offi cer to 
procure or to trade when the Designated Offi cer is precluded 
from trading and provides awareness of the need to enforce 
confi dentiality against external advisors

•  requires Designated Offi cers to provide notifi cation to the 
Chief Executive Offi cer (with the CEO notifying the Board of 
Directors)

•  confi rmation of any trading
• sets out the black out periods
•  specifi es if there is any discretion to permit trading by 

designated offi cers in specifi c circumstances
•  specifi es whether Cabcharge prohibits Designated Offi cers 

from entering into transactions in associated products which 
operate to limit the economic risk of their security holdings 
in the company.

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN 
FINANCIAL REPORTING
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a 
company should “have a structure to independently verify and 
safeguard the integrity of the Company’s fi nancial reporting”. 

The Audit, Risk and Nomination Committee is constituted in 
accordance with ASX Guidelines with its requirements set out 
in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter. The Committee has 
three members, Mr Ian Armstrong, Mr Peter Hyer and 
Mr Neville Wran. In accordance with ASX Guidelines the 
majority of the members are independent Directors and all 
members are Non-Executive Directors.

The Committee’s primary responsibility is verifying and 
safeguarding the integrity of the Company’s fi nancial 
reporting. The composition of the Committee is such that 
it exercises independent judgement in accordance with 
ASX Guidelines.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
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All members of the Committee are fi nancially literate in 
accordance with ASX Guidelines. Mr Armstrong (Chairman) 
was a partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers for twenty three 
years, of which fi fteen years were in the fi eld of corporate 
fi nance. Mr Armstrong is also a fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in Australia. 

Mr Hyer is Chairman and Managing Director of Adelhill 
Limited which is the parent entity of Premier Cabs.

Mr Wran served as Premier of New South Wales from 1976 to 
1986 and is now Executive Chairman of Wran Partners Pty Ltd. 
Mr Wran is also a director of a number of other companies.

The number of Committee meetings held and the attendees 
are set out in the Directors’ Report. The Committee reports 
to the Board and minutes of each Committee meeting are 
included in the papers for the next full Board meeting.

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED 
DISCLOSURE
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a 
company should “promote timely and balanced disclosure 
of all material matters concerning the Company”. Cabcharge 
has in place mechanisms designed to ensure compliance with 
ASX Listing Rules such that: 
•  all investors have equal and timely access to material 

information concerning Cabcharge – including its fi nancial 
situation, performance and governance

•  company announcements are factual and presented in a 
clear and balanced way - balance requires disclosure of 
positive and negative information.

Cabcharge has a Charter which outlines the process and 
policies in relation to disclosure to the market. The processes 
in place ensure that company announcements:
• are made in a timely manner
• are factual
• do not omit material information
•  are expressed in a clear and objective manner that allows 

investors to assess the impact of the information when 
making investment decisions. 

The Chief Executive Offi cer has ultimate authority and 
responsibility for approving market disclosure. Each 
announcement is reviewed by the Board and the Board 
considers if any items of business dealt with should be 
disclosed to the market.

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a company 
should “respect the rights of a shareholder and facilitate the 
effective exercise of those rights”.

Cabcharge has a shareholder communication policy which 
highlights Cabcharge’s commitment to transparency in its 
dealings with shareholders, analysts, investors and the market 
generally. Cabcharge encourages shareholder participation at 
shareholder meetings and is committed to dealing promptly 
and effectively with shareholder enquiries. Copies of Board 
Charters and other policies approved by the Board are 
available from Cabcharge upon request.

The Cabcharge Annual Meeting is convened in accordance 
with applicable laws and rules. Cabcharge encourages 
shareholders to participate at the AGM by making comments 
and requesting information from Board members and 
Cabcharge’s Auditors who attend each Cabcharge AGM and 
are available to answer shareholder questions in relation to 
audit procedures and audited accounts.

Cabcharge keeps shareholders informed by making company 
announcements as well as sending half yearly as well as yearly 
reports. All announcements are placed on the Cabcharge 
website after they have been released to the market.

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a company 
should “establish a sound system of risk and oversight 
management and internal control”. The system adopted by 
Cabcharge is designed to:
• identify, assess, monitor and manage risk
•  inform investors of material changes to Cabcharge’s risk 

profi le.

Cabcharge has appointed a Risk Oversight and Management 
Committee. The Committee has in place policies in relation to:
• oversight of the risk management system
• risk profi le
• risk management and compliance and control
• assessment of effectiveness.

The policy also clearly describes the role and respective 
accountabilities of the Cabcharge Board, the Audit Risk and 
Nomination Committee, management and internal audit 
functions. A policy is in place in relation to the Chief Executive 
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Offi cer and the Chief Financial Offi cer providing a statement 
to the Board that to the best of their knowledge the integrity 
of the fi nancial statements is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal compliance and control 
which implements policies adopted by the Board and that 
Cabcharge’s risk management and internal compliance and 
control system is operating effi ciently and effectively in all 
material respects.

The Risk Oversight and Management Committee prepares 
a report for the Audit Risk and Nomination Committee. 
The Audit Risk and Nomination Committee then reviews 
the processes in place and the report of the Committee. 
The report is then presented to the Board for discussion.

The Risk Oversight and Management Committee is comprised 
of Mr Phillip Franet and Mr Donnald McMichael. Details in 
relation to the number of meetings held and attendees are set 
out in the Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 8: ENCOURAGE ENHANCED PERFORMANCE
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a company 
should “fairly review and actively encourage enhanced Board 
and management”.

Cabcharge has adopted a policy in relation to the assessment 
of the performance of the Board (including committees), 
the Chief Executive Offi cer, the Chief Financial Offi cer and 
key executives. The Audit Risk and Nomination Committee 
assesses the framework and processes in place to assess 
performance and regularly reviews the effectiveness of 
the policy.

Cabcharge has also implemented induction procedures 
designed to allow new Board appointees to participate fully 
and actively in Cabcharge Board decision making at the 
earliest opportunity. The induction program is designed to 
enable Directors to gain an understanding of:
•  Cabcharge’s fi nancial, strategic, operational and risk 

management position
• Cabcharge Directors’ rights, duties and responsibilities
• The role of Cabcharge Board committees.

Directors and key executives also have access to continuing 
education to update and enhance their skills. All Cabcharge 
Directors have access to information including:
•  Access to the procedure agreed by the Board for Directors 

to take independent professional advice as outlined earlier
• Access to the Company Secretary.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a 
matter for decision by the Cabcharge Board as a whole. The 
Company Secretary is accountable to the Board through the 
Chairman on all governance matters.

PRINCIPLE 9: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY
The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr Hyer and 
Mr Ford and the committee has in place policies to ensure 
transparency and full disclosure in relation to the amount 
of remuneration and all monetary and non-monetary 
components for each Director and of each of the fi ve highest 
paid executives during the year. Details of the number of 
meetings and attendees are set out in the Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPLE 10: RECOGNISE THE LEGITIMATE INTERESTS 
OF SHAREHOLDERS
The ASX Corporate Governance Council states that a company 
should “recognise legal and other obligations to legitimate 
stakeholders”. Cabcharge demands a high standard of 
ethical corporate behaviour from all Directors and staff. 
The Cabcharge Code of Ethics and Conduct includes 
guidelines for:
•  clear commitment by the Board and management to the 

code of conduct
•  responsibilities to shareholders and the fi nancial community 

generally
• responsibility to clients, customers and consumers
• employment practices
• obligations relative to fair trading and dealing
• responsibilities to the community
• responsibilities to the individual
•  how Cabcharge complies with legislation affecting its 

operations
•  how the Company monitors and ensures compliance with 

the code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
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 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue from ordinary activities 2   780,119   693,511   728,188   648,640 

Taxi hire charges and payments to service providers   (674,654)  (601,424)  (678,648)  (604,873)

Direct costs of members taxi related services   (17,551)  (15,161)  –     –   

Employee benefi ts expense   (22,951)  (21,041)  (6,354)  (4,846)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 3   (11,848)  (8,931)  (7,023)  (5,166)

Borrowing expenses 3   (502)  (535)  –     –   

Other expenses from ordinary activities   (14,294)  (13,881)  (8,554)  (9,844)

Profi t from ordinary activities before income tax expense   38,319   32,538   27,609   23,911 

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities 4   (11,089)  (9,406)  (7,937)  (6,955)

Profi t from ordinary activities after related income tax expense
(all attributable to members of the parent entity)   27,230   23,132   19,672   16,956 

Increase in asset revaluation reserve 21(b)  496   732   492   726 

Total changes in equity other than those resulting from 
transactions with owners as owners   27,726   23,864   20,164   17,682 

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 24   24.3   20.6

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 24   24.3  20.6 

The Statement of Financial Performance is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE
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CURRENT ASSETS
Cash assets 5   38,259   45,616   7,614   14,317 

Receivables 6   51,245   46,885   46,809  41,408 

Inventories 7   682   978   –     –   

Total current assets   90,186  93,479   54,423   55,725 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other fi nancial assets 8   23,668      20,471   174,582  173,121 

Property, plant and equipment 9   41,540   33,059   22,759  14,478 

Intangible assets 10   8,875   8,703   2,658   2,116 

Deferred tax assets 11   2,099   2,108   2,099   2,108 

Other 12   168   584   –     –   

Total non-current assets   76,350   64,925   202,098   191,823 
Total assets  166,536   158,404   256,521   247,548 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 13   12,116  11,416   17,717  6,111 

Interest bearing liabilities 14   7,779   9,762   –     –   

Current tax liabilities 15   3,182   4,869   3,126  4,880 

Provisions 16   2,468   2,427   908  861 

Total current liabilities   25,545   28,474   21,751  11,852 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Non-interest bearing liability – within the Group 17   –     –     117,094  117,094 

Interest bearing liabilities 18   477   916   –    –   

Provisions 19   2,522   2,285   860   770 

Total non-current liabilities   2,999   3,201   117,954  117,864 
Total liabilities   28,544   31,675   139,705  129,716 
Net assets  137,992   126,729   116,816  117,832 

EQUITY
Contributed equity 20   72,431  71,791   72,431   76,508 

Reserves 21   1,284   788   1,260   768 

Retained Profi ts 22   64,277   54,150   43,125   40,556 

Total equity   137,992  126,729   116,816   117,832 

The Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
AS AT 30 JUNE 2005  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

STATEMENT OF CASH 
FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers and others   777,913   703,832   735,687  644,884 

Payments to suppliers, licensees and employees   (732,794)  (660,241)  (698,636)  (611,862)

Dividends received  160  78   158   74 

Interest received   2,523   2,467   1,035  1,076 

Borrowing costs   (129)  (123)  –     –   

Income tax paid   (12,819)  (9,088)  (12,618) (6,693)

Net cash provided by operating activities 32 (a)  34,854  36,925   25,626  27,479 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   718   391   –     –   

Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (19,929)  (7,570)  (15,056)  (3,845)

Proceeds from sale of investments   –     1,258   –     1,242 

Purchase of investments

 Net cash payment for investment in subsidiary: 
 Black Cabs Combined Limited (“BCC”)   –     (12,027)  –     (13,527)

 Net cash payment for investment in subsidiary: 
 ABC Radio Taxi Limited (“ABC”)   –     (2,348)  –     (3,185)

 Other   (3,102)  (544)  (155)  (204)

Payments for related parties   –     –     (15)  (12)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (22,313)  (20,840)  (15,226)  (19,531)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings   (2,795)  (2,768)  –     –   

Dividends paid by parent entity   (17,103)  (15,156)  (17,103)  (15,156)

Net cash provided by (used in) fi nancing activities   (19,898)  (17,924)  (17,103)  (15,156)

Net increase (decrease) in cash held   (7,357)  (1,839)  (6,703)  (7,208)

Cash at the beginning of the fi nancial year   45,616   47,455   14,317   21,525 

Cash at the end of the fi nancial year 5   38,259   45,616   7,614   14,317 

The Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the fi nancial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This consolidated fi nancial report is a general purpose 
fi nancial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards, Urgent Issues Group Consensus Group 
Views, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001.

It has been prepared on the basis of historical costs and, 
except where stated, does not take into account changing 
money values or fair values of assets.

The accounting policies adopted in this report have been 
consistently applied by each entity in the consolidated entity 
and are consistent with those of the previous year.

The following is a summary of the material accounting policies 
adopted by the economic entity in the preparation of the 
fi nancial report. The accounting policies have been consistently 
applied, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Principles of consolidation
The consolidated accounts comprise the accounts of 
Cabcharge Australia Limited and all of its controlled entities. 
A controlled entity is any entity controlled by Cabcharge 
Australia Limited. Control exists where Cabcharge Australia 
Limited has the capacity to dominate the decision-making 
in relation to the fi nancial and operating policies of another 
entity so that the other entity operates with Cabcharge 
Australia Limited to achieve the objectives of Cabcharge 
Australia Limited. A list of controlled entities is contained in 
Note 28 to the fi nancial statements.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities 
in the economic entity, including any unrealised profi ts or 
losses, have been eliminated on consolidation.

Where controlled entities have entered or left the economic 
entity during the year, their operating results are included from 
the date control was obtained or until the date control ceased.

Outside interests in the equity and results of the entities 
that are controlled are shown as a separate item in the 
consolidated fi nancial report.

(b) Income tax
The economic entity adopts the liability method of tax-effect 
accounting whereby the income tax expense is based on the 
profi t from ordinary activities adjusted for any permanent 
differences. 

Timing differences which arise due to the different accounting 
periods in which items of revenue and expense are included 
in the determination of accounting profi t and taxable income 
are brought to account as either deferred tax asset or deferred 
tax liability at the rate of income tax applicable to the period in 
which the benefi t will be received or the liability will become 
payable.

Deferred tax assets are not brought to account unless 
realisation of the asset is assured beyond reasonable doubt. 
Deferred tax assets in relation to tax losses are not brought 
to account unless there is virtual certainty of realisation of the 
benefi t.

The amount of benefi ts brought to account or which may 
be realised in the future is based on the assumption that no 
adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and 
the anticipation that the economic entity will derive suffi cient 
future assessable income to enable the benefi t to be realised 
and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by 
the law.

For the purposes of income taxation, Cabcharge Australia 
Limited and its 100% subsidiaries have formed a tax 
consolidated group. Members of the group have entered into 
a tax sharing agreement whereby the head entity, Cabcharge 
Australia Limited meets the tax obligations on behalf of its 
wholly owned subsidiaries, which are then on-charged.

There was no signifi cant adjustment to the deferred tax 
balance due to the revised tax legislation and the election 
made to form a tax consolidated group.
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/ 11.31 PM ALBERTON  / 11.41 PM WOODRIDGE  / 11.46 PM CLEVELAND  / 11.56 PM COOLANGATTA  / 12.00 AM PARK RIDGE  / 12.14 AM VICTORIA POINT  / 12.18 AM BELMONT  / 12.22 AM ORANGE GROVE  / 12.31 AM AMITY POINT  / 12.36 AM WYNNUM  / 12.39 AM MILTON  / 12.41 AM 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c) Foreign currency transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions during the year are converted to 
Australian currency at the rates of exchange applicable at the 
dates of the transactions. Amounts receivable and payable in 
foreign currencies at balance date are converted at the rates of 
exchange ruling at that date.

The gains and losses from conversion of short-term assets and 
liabilities, whether realised or unrealised, are included in profi t 
from ordinary activities as they arise. 

The assets and liabilities of the overseas controlled entities, 
which are self-sustaining, are translated at year-end rates and 
operating results are translated at the rates ruling at the end of 
each month. Gains and losses arising on translation are taken 
directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.

(d) Acquisitions of assets
The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions 
of assets regardless of whether shares or other assets are 
acquired. Cost is determined as the fair value of the assets 
given up at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the 
acquisition. Where goodwill arises it is brought to account on 
the basis described in Note 1(l). Where the fair values of the 
identifi able net assets acquired by the entity exceed the cost 
of acquisition incurred by the entity, the difference represents 
a discount on acquisition and is accounted for by reducing 
proportionately the fair values of the non-monetary assets 
acquired until the discount is eliminated.

(e) Revaluation of non-current assets
Land and Buildings are revalued at regular intervals. 
Independent assessments are obtained of the fair market value 
of land and buildings and such assessments are used as a 
guide when revaluations are made. Revaluation increments are 
credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve.

Revaluations do not result in the carrying value of land or 
buildings exceeding the net amount expected to be recovered 
through the net cash infl ows arising from their continued 
use and subsequent disposal (“recoverable amount”). The 
expected net cashfl ows have not been discounted to present 
values in determining recoverable amounts.

Where the carrying amount of an individual non-current asset 
is greater than its recoverable amount the asset is revalued 
to its recoverable amount. To the extent that the revaluation 
decrement reverses a revaluation increment previously credited 
to and still included in the balance of, the asset revaluation 
reserve, the decrement is debited directly to that reserve.

Otherwise the decrement is recognised as an expense in the 
profi t and loss account. Revaluations have not taken into 
account potential capital gains tax.

(f) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Costs are assigned on a fi rst-in fi rst-out basis 
and include direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate 
proportion of variable and fi xed overhead expenses.

(g) Investments

Shares
Shares in listed companies held as current assets are valued by 
Directors at those shares’ market value at each balance date. 
Unrealised gains are credited to asset revaluation reserve. 
Unrealised losses are debited to asset revaluation reserve to 
the extent that the revaluation decrement reverses a previous 
revaluation increment credited to the reserve.

Non-current investments are carried at cost or at Directors’ 
valuation. The carrying amount of investments is reviewed 
annually by Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the 
recoverable amount of these investments. The recoverable 
amount is assessed from the shares’ current market value 
or the underlying net assets in the particular entities. 
The expected net cash fl ows from investments have not 
been discounted to their present value in determining the 
recoverable amounts.

(h) Taxi licence plates
Taxi licence plates are valued at cost.

(i) Fixed term taxi licences
Fixed term taxi licences are valued at cost less a proportional 
charge to expense based on the term of the licences.
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BRISBANE
SOUTHPORT  / 12.54 AM GOLD COAST  / 12.58 AM ARCHER FIELD  / 1.06 AM BROOK FIELD  / 1.19 AM CAPALABIA  / 1.20 AM WOONGOOLBA  / 1.26 AM BEENLEIGH  / 1.30 AM EAGLEBY  / 1.41 AM WATERFORD  / 1.52 AM CARBROOK  / 1.59 AM SLACKS CREEK  / 2.10 AM BINKENBA 

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(j) Leases
Leases of fi xed assets where substantially all the risks and 
benefi ts incidental to the ownership of the asset, but not the 
legal ownership, are transferred to entities in the economic 
entity are classifi ed as fi nance leases. Finance leases are 
capitalised, recording an asset and a liability equal to the 
present value of the minimum lease payments, including any 
guaranteed residual values.

Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the 
estimated useful lives where it is likely that the economic entity 
will obtain ownership of the asset or over the term of the 
lease.

Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the 
lease liability and the lease interest expense for the period.

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all 
the risks and benefi ts remain with the lessor, are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as 
a liability. Lease payments received reduce the liability.

(k) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated on straight line and diminishing 
value bases to write off the net cost or revalued amount of 
each item of property, plant and equipment over its expected 
useful life. Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on 
a regular basis for all assets, with annual reassessments for 
major items.

The depreciation rates used for each major class of asset are:

Buildings  1 to 2.5%

Furniture, fi ttings, plant and equipment 5 to 33%

EFTPOS equipment 16.67%

In the prior year, EFTPOS equipment operating on the Telstra 
Mobile Data Network was re-assessed as to remaining useful 
life. The additional depreciation charged in the current 
year arising from this re-assessment is $1,934,000. 
(2004: $1,781,000)

(l) Intangible assets

Goodwill
On acquisition of some, or all, of the assets of another entity 
or, in the case of an investment in a controlled entity, on 
acquisition of some, or all, of the equity of that controlled 
entity, the identifi able net assets acquired are measured at 
their fair value. The excess of the fair value of the purchase 
consideration plus incidental expenses over the fair value of 
identifi able net assets acquired (ie goodwill) is amortised on 
a straight line basis over twenty years, being the period during 
which the benefi ts are expected to arise.

Patents and trademarks
Signifi cant costs associated with patents and trademarks 
having a benefi t or relationship to more than one accounting 
period are deferred and amortised over the periods of their 
expected benefi t.

(m) Cash 
For purposes of the statement of cash fl ows, cash includes 
deposits at call which are readily convertible to cash on hand 
and which are used in the cash management function on a 
day-to-day basis, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

(n) Research and development expenditure
Research and Development costs are charged to profi t from 
ordinary activities before income tax as incurred or deferred 
where it is expected beyond any reasonable doubt that 
suffi cient future benefi ts will be derived so as to recover those 
deferred costs.

Deferred research and development expenditure is amortised 
on a straight line basis over the period during which the 
related benefi ts are expected to be realised, once commercial 
production has commenced.
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/ 2.12 AM PORT ADELAIDE  / 2.18 AM WOODVILLE  / 2.25 AM NORWOOD  / 2.29 AM STURT  / 2.36 AM WAYVILLE  / 2.41 AM GLENELG  / 2.45 AM EDEN HILLS  / 2.56 AM BLACKWOOD  / 3.04 AM GLENUNGA  / 3.13 AM BRIGHTON  / 3.20 AM KENSINGTON PARK  / 3.22 AM UPPER 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(o) Revenue
Taxi hire charges and account service fee revenue is recognised 
upon billing. Account service fee revenue is disclosed net of 
Goods and Services Tax (“GST”), where applicable. Taxi hire 
charges are GST inclusive since the GST is embedded in taxis’ 
metered fares and liability for the GST rests with the taxi 
driver. 

Taxi depot and leasing fees are billed every 28 days in advance. 
Operating revenue receipts relating to years beyond the 
current fi nancial year are shown in the statement of fi nancial 
position as unearned revenue under the heading of Current 
Liabilities – Payables.

Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to dividend has 
been established.

(p) Comparative fi gures
Where required by Accounting Standards comparative fi gures 
have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation 
for the current fi nancial year.

(q) Employee entitlements 
Provision is made for the economic entity’s liability for 
employee entitlements arising from services rendered by 
employees to balance date. Employee entitlements expected 
to be settled within one year together with entitlements 
arising from wages and salaries, annual leave and long service 
leave which will be settled after one year, have been measured 
at their nominal amount. Other employee entitlements 
payable later than one year have been measured at the 
present value of the estimated future cash outfl ows to be 
made for those entitlements.

Contributions are made by the economic entity to employee 
superannuation funds and are charged as expenses when 
incurred.



ADELAIDE
STURT  / 3.27 AM BELAIR  / 3.31 AM WILLUNGA  / 3.35 AM PORT NOARLUNGA  / 3.39 AM VICTOR HARBOUR  / 3.42 AM HAWTHORNDENE  / 3.46 AM MOUNT BARKER  / 3.50 AM BALHANNAH  / 3.54 AM MILE END  / 3.59 AM GOOLWAH  / 4.01 AM UNLEY  / 4.03 AM GLENSIDE  /
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2. REVENUE

Operating activities
Taxi hire charges and fee revenue   721,389   641,016   720,703   641,016 

Members taxi related services   45,104   40,090   –     –   

Dividends received

 Wholly owned subsidiaries   –     –     –     –   

 Other corporations   160   78   158   74 

Interest received

 Other persons  2,537   2,467   1,035   1,076 

Rental revenue   139   201   112   169 

Other revenue   10,072   8,010   6,180   5,063 

    779,401   691,862   728,188   647,398 

Non-operating activities
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment   718   1,649   –     1,242 

Total revenue   780,119   693,511   728,188   648,640 

3. PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Profi t from ordinary activities before income tax has been determined after:

Expenses
Borrowing costs

 Other persons    502   535   –     –   

Total borrowing costs   502   535   –     –   

Depreciation of non-current assets

 Building   178   195   22   23 

 Plant and equipment   10,633   7,714   6,753   4,880 

Total depreciation   10,811   7,909   6,775   4,903 

Amortisation of non-current assets

 Goodwill   552  527   248   263 

 Others   485   495   –     –   

Total amortisation   1,037   1,022   248   263 
Total depreciation and amortisation   11,848   8,931   7,023   5,166 

(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (81)  (274)  –     (209)

Bad and doubtful debts – trade debtors   609   819   490   638 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
AS AT 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000



/ 4.16 AM STUART PARK  / 4.21 AM LARRAKEYAH  / 4.25 AM DARWIN CITY  / 4.31 AM THE GARDENS  / 4.33 AM PARAP  / 4.38 AM FANNIE BAY  / 4.41 AM THE NARROWS  / 4.52 AM LUDMILLA  / 4.57 AM EAST POINT / 5.15 AM COCONUT GROVE  / 5.23 AM MILLNER  / 5.29 AM J
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4. INCOME TAX
The prima facie tax on profi t from ordinary activities before income 
tax is reconciled to the income tax as follows:

Prima facie tax payable on profi t from ordinary activities before income 
tax at 30% (2004:30%)      
 economic entity   11,496   9,761 

 parent entity    8,283  7,173

Add tax effect of:      
 Non-deductible depreciation and amortisation   194   186   81   86 

 Timing differences and tax losses not brought to account  11  9  2  – 

 Other non allowable items   142   –     110   –   

    11,843   9,956   8,476   7,259 

Less tax effect of:

 Rebateable fully franked dividends   (5)  (2)  (3)  (1)

 Additional tax deduction for research and development expenditure   (536)  (375)  (536)  (303)

 Other items   (213)  (173)  –     –   

Income tax expense   11,089  9,406   7,937  6,955 

5. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH
Cash at bank   3,257   4,429   2,151   2 

Deposits at call   35,002   41,187   5,463   14,315 

Balance per statement of cash fl ows  38,259   45,616   7,614   14,317 

6. CURRENT ASSETS – RECEIVABLES
Trade debtors   41,583   37,051   38,094   34,888 

Provision for doubtful debts   (919)  (998)  (705) (630)

   40,664   36,053   37,389   34,258 

Amounts receivable from: 

Wholly owned subsidiaries    –     –     5,711   2,886 

Other debtors    10,581   10,832   3,709   4,264 

  51,245   46,885   46,809   41,408 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



DARWIN
JINGOLI  / 5.32 AM MOIL  / 5.36 AM CASURINA  / 5.42 AM ALAWA  / 5.44 AM RAPID CREEK  / 5.50 AM BRINKIN  / 5.52 AM WAGAMAN  / 6.00 AM LEANYER  / 6.06 AM WANGURI  / 6.10 AM TIWI  / 6.16 AM WULAGI  / 6.27 AM KATHERINE  / 6.33 AM ALICE SPRINGS  / 6.39 AM 
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7. CURRENT ASSETS – INVENTORIES
At lower of cost and net realisable value

Parts, safety cameras and sundries   682   978   –     –   

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Market value of listed investments

 Shares in other listed corporations  2,675   2,180   2,638   2,145 

Unlisted investments at cost

 Shares in controlled entities  –     –     169,095   168,132 

 Shares in other corporations  3,090   2,936   2,849   2,844 

Investment in taxi plates – at cost   17,903   15,355   –     –   

   23,668   20,471   174,582   173,121 

9 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(a) Composition 
Land – at Directors’ valuation – 2003  6,805   6,805   2,100   2,100 

Land – at cost   700   700   –     –   

   7,505  7,505   2,100   2,100 

Building – at Directors’ valuation – 2003   7,090   7,090   2,214   2,214 

Buildings – at cost   1,212   1,212   –     –   

Accumulated depreciation   (866)  (688)  (324)  (302)

   7,436   7,614   1,890   1,912 

Total land and buildings   14,941   15,119   3,990   4,012 

Furniture, fi ttings, plant and equipment – at cost  20,455   17,456   3,582   3,582 

Accumulated depreciation   (11,629)  (8,895)  (2,586)  (2,495)

   8,826   8,561   996   1,087 

Eftpos equipment – at cost  27,385   28,259   27,385   28,259 

Accumulated depreciation   (9,612)  (18,880)  (9,612)  (18,880)

   17,773   9,379   17,773   9,379 

   41,540   33,059   22,759   14,478 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000



/ 6.41 AM STIRLING  / 6.45 AM NORTHBRIDGE  / 6.48 AM KINGS PARK  / 6.51 AM SUBIACO  / 6.52 AM BURSWOOD  / 6.58 AM HIGHGATE  / 7.00 AM LEEDERVILLE  / 7.15 AM MENORA  / 7.19 AM MT LAWLEY  / 7.22 AM COOLBINIA / 7.26 AM MT HAWTHORN  / 7.33 AM GUILDFORD
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9 NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

(b) Movement in carrying amounts

Economic Entity
Balance at the beginning of the year   15,119   8,561   9,379   33,059 

Other additions   –     5,127   14,802   19,929 

Disposals   –     (637)  –     (637)

Depreciation expense   (178)  (4,225)  (6,408)  (10,811)

Carrying amount at the end of the year   14,941   8,826   17,773   41,540 

Parent Entity
Balance at the beginning of the year   4,012   1,087   9,379   14,478 

Additions   –     254   14,802   15,056 

Depreciation expense   (22)  (345)  (6,408)  (6,775)

Carrying amount at the end of the year   3,990   996   17,773   22,759 

(c) Note on valuation of property
The carrying amount of Land and Buildings is reviewed annually by the Directors. If the carrying amount of an item of the 
Land and Buildings exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is written down to the lesser amount. An independent valuation 
was performed by Lachlan Graham, A.A.P.I. registered valuer, of Landmark White on 2 September 2002. The independent 
valuation for Land and Building was based upon “market value, subject to vacant possession”. 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLES
Goodwill at cost   12,336   11,543   6,236   5,445 

Accumulated amortisation   (4,146)  (3,593)  (3,578)  (3,329)

   8,190  7,950   2,658   2,116 

Intellectual Property at cost  892   892   –     –   

Accumulated amortisation   (207)  (139)  –    –   

   685   753   –     –   

   8,875  8,703   2,658   2,116 

11. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
The balance comprises tax effects on:

Provision for doubtful debts   255   300   255   300 

Provision for employee entitlements   1,497   1,414   1,497   1,414 

Other timing differences   (156)  (215)  (266)  (215)

Tax losses   503   609   613   609 

   2,099  2,108   2,099   2,108 

   Furniture, fi ttings,  
  Land and Buildings plant and equipment Eftpos equipment Total
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



PERTH
  / 7.42 AM COTTESLOE  / 7.48 AM APPLECROSS  / 7.50 AM CARLISLE  / 7.56 AM CLOVERDALE  / 8.01 AM WELSHPOOL  / 8.04 AM KEWDALE  / 8.16 AM NEDLAND  / 8.25 AM FREMANTLE  / 8.39 AM CRAWLEY  / 8.45 AM ATTADALE  / 8.50 AM WILSON  / 8.56 AM SLATER POINT
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12. NON-CURRENT OTHER ASSETS
Prepaid fi xed term taxi licences at cost  1,623   1,623   –     –   

Accumulated amortisation   (1,455) (1,039)  –     –   

   168   584   –     –   

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PAYABLES
Trade creditors   1,994   3,626   13,655   3,258 

Other creditors and accruals   8,815   7,016   4,062   2,853 

Unearned revenue    1,307   774   –     –   

   12,116  11,416   17,717     6,111 

14. CURRENT LIABILITIES – INTEREST BEARING
Unsecured loans   7,281   8,946   –     –   

Hire purchase liabilities  32(d)  440   451   –     –   

Bank bills   58   365   –     –   

   7,779   9,762   –     –   

The unsecured loans are at-call and bear variable market interest rates (current year at 4.5%)

15. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TAX LIABILITIES
Income tax   3,182   4,869   3,126   4,880 

16. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Employee entitlements   2,468  2,427   908   861 

17. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – NON-INTEREST BEARING
Amount owing to subsidiary company   –     –     117,094   117,094 

18. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
Hire purchase liabilities  32(d) 477   916   –     –   

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000



/ 9.06 AM BRIDGEWATER  / 9.10 AM RISDON  / 9.15 AM WEST HOBART  / 9.23 AM LENAH VALLEY  / 9.26 AM MONTAGU BAY  / 9.32 AM ROSNY  / 9.35 AM CASCADES  / 9.41 AM QUEENS DOMAIN  / 9.45 AM BATTERY POINT  / 9.46 AM GLEBE  / 9.48 AM MOONAH / 9.50 AM MOU
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19. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Employee entitlements   2,522   2,285   860   770 

Aggregate provision for employee entitlements   4,990   4,712   1,768   1,631 

   No.   No.   No.   No. 

Number of employees at year end  375  395  63  63 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005  2004  2005  2004 
 Note (number) (number) (number) (number)

20. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

(a) Composition and movement in issued capital (number of shares)

Composition of Issued Capital
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares   112,233,057   112,058,057   112,233,057   113,474,698 

Movements in Ordinary Shares
Number at the beginning of the reporting period   112,058,057   112,844,254   113,474,698   112,844,254 

Issue of shares during the reporting period in consideration for the 
acquisition of business of Townsville Taxis & Mackay Taxis      
 27 September 2004   100,000   –     100,000   –   

 14 February 2005   75,000   –     75,000   –   

Issue of shares during the reporting period in consideration for the 
takeovers of BCC and ABC
 31 August 2003   –     3,517,800   –     3,517,800 

 19 March 2004   –    942,862   –     942,862 

   175,000   4,460,662   175,000   4,460,662 

Reversal of last year’s elimination   1,416,641   –      –   

Buy-back of cross-holding shares 20(d)
 25 November 2003   –     (3,830,218)  –     (3,830,218)

 30 November 2004  (1,416,641)  –     (1,416,641)  –   

Elimination of cross-holding shares 20(d) 
 19 March 2004   –  (1,416,641)  –     –   

   – (5,246,859)  (1,416,641)  (3,830,218)

Number at end of reporting period  112,233,057  112,058,057   112,233,057   113,474,698 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



HOBART
UNT STUART  / 9.53 AM DERWENT PARK  / 9.57 AM GEILSTON BAY  / 9.59 AM LINDISFARNE  / 10.00 AM LUTANA  / 10.03 AM SHORNES CORNER  / 10.07 AM OTAGO  / 10.11 AM OLD FARM  / 10.15 AM TURNIP FIELDS  / 10.18 AM THE WATERWORKS  / 10.23 AM TOLMANS HILL  /
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(b) Composition and movement in issued capital (dollars)

Composition of Issued Capital
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares   72,431   71,791   72,431   76,508 

Movements in Ordinary Shares
Paid up amount at the beginning of the reporting period   71,791   74,389   76,508   74,389 

Issue of shares during the reporting period in consideration for the 
acquisition of business of Townsville Taxis & Mackay Taxis
 27 September 2004   340   –     340   –   

 14 February 2005   300   –     300   –   

Issue of shares during the reporting period in consideration for the 
takeovers of BCC and ABC
 31 August 2003   –     10,624   –     10,624 

 19 March 2004   –     3,140   –     3,140 

    640   13,764   640   13,764 

Reversal of last year’s elimination   4,717   –     –     –   

Buy-back of cross-holding shares 20(d)
 25 November 2003   –     (11,645)  –     (11,645)

 30 November 2004   (5,680)  –     (5,680)  –   

Transfer from share repurchase reserve 21(b)  963   –     963   –   

Elimination of cross-holding shares 20(d)
 19 March 2004   –     (4,717)  –     –   

   –     (16,362)  (4,717)  (11,645)

Paid up amount at end of reporting period   72,431   71,791   72,431   76,508 

(c) Options over unissued shares
No options were granted during the year and there were no options outstanding at the end of the fi nancial year.

(d) Share Buy-Back
Pursuant to a Special Resolution passed at the 2004 Annual General Meeting, Cabcharge made a selective buy-back of 
1,416,641 ordinary shares held in Cabcharge by a subsidiary company, ABC Radio Taxis (“the cross-holding shares”). 
The shares bought back were then cancelled immediately.

In the prior year accounts, the cross-holding shares were eliminated on the basis of the principle that a company cannot own 
shares in itself. That elimination has been reversed in the current year and replaced by the actual share buy-back transactions.

A consolidation adjustment arises in respect of the cross-holding shares. Cabcharge’s share price at the time of its issue of shares 
in consideration for the takeover of ABC was $3.33 while the market based cost price applicable to the cross-holding shares at 
the time of buy-back was $4.01. This difference in the consolidated accounts of 68 cents per share for the buy-back shares has 
been credited to share repurchase reserve. The resultant balance in the share repurchase reserve has been transferred to issued 
capital as shown in Note 20(b).

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005  Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000



/ 10.26 AM DEAKIN  / 10.30 AM GRIFFITH  / 10.35 AM KINGSTON  / 10.39 AM BARTON  / 10.41 AM CAPITAL HILL  / 10.47 AM YARRALUMLA  / 10.50 AM PARKES  / 10.53 AM RUSSELL  / 10.56 AM ACTON  / 10.59 AM CAMPBELL  / 11.01 AM REID  / 11.05 AM BRADDON  / 11.08 AM TU
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21. RESERVES

(a) Composition
Asset revaluation reserve  1,284   788   1,260   768 

(b) Movement during the year

Asset revaluation reserve 
Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year   788   56   768   42 

Revaluation increment on investments   496   732   492   726 

Balance at the end of the fi nancial year   1,284   788   1,260   768 

The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of non-current assets

Share repurchase reserve
Balance at beginning of the fi nancial year  –     –     –     –   

Difference arising from share buy-back transaction for ABC Radio Taxis   963   –     963   –   

Balance of reserve transferred to issued capital   (963)  –     (963)  –   

Balance at the end of the fi nancial year   –     –     –     –   

22. RETAINED PROFITS
Retained profi ts at the beginning of the fi nancial year  54,150  46,174   40,556   38,756 

Net profi t attributable to the members of the parent entity  27,230  23,132   19,672   16,956 

Payment of fi nal dividend   (8,124)  (7,873)  (8,124)  (7,873)

Payment of interim dividend   (8,979)  (7,283)  (8,979)  (7,283)

Retained profi ts at the end of the fi nancial year   64,277   54,150   43,125   40,556 

23. DIVIDENDS
Final fully franked ordinary dividend of 7.25 cents per share 
franked at the tax rate of 30%   8,124   –     8,124   –   

(2004: 7.25 cents franked at 30%)   –     7,873   –     7,873 

Interim fully franked ordinary dividend of 8.00 cents per share franked 
at the tax rate of 30%  8,979   –     8,979   –

(2004: 6.5 cents franked at 30%)   –     7,283   –     7,283 

Total dividends paid  17,103  15,156   17,103   15,156 

Dividends cents per share paid / payable
Interim   8.00    6.50    8.00    6.50  

Final     9.00    7.25    9.00    7.25  

Total   17.00   13.75    17.00    13.75  

The fi nal 9.00 cents per share dividend is scheduled for payment on 18 October 2005.

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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24. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Weighted average number of fully paid ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year used in calculation of basic EPS  112,161,619    112,447,641  

Weighted average number of options not exercised for the purpose 
of diluted EPS calculations   –     –   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year used in calculation of diluted EPS  112,161,619   112,447,641

25. DIVIDEND FRANKING BALANCES
Balance at the beginning of the fi nancial year   32,100  27,943 

Franking credits arising for the tax consolidated group on acquisitions 
of entities during the year   –     1,034 

Franking credit arising from income tax paid or payable in respect 
of the fi nancial year  11,089  9,615 

Franked dividends received   5   3 

Franked dividends paid or provided   (7,330)  (6,495)

Balance at the end of the fi nancial year   35,864   32,100 

The ability to utilise the franking credits is dependent upon there being suffi cient available profi ts to declare dividends.

The franking balance is disclosed on the income tax paid basis. Therefore, fully franked dividends amounting to 
$83.7m could potentially be paid to shareholders.        

26. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION

a) Directors’ details and remuneration:
The names of parent entity Directors who held offi ce during the fi nancial year are – RL Kermode, E Barukh, IA Armstrong,  
ND Ford, PJ Franet, PJ Hyer, DS McMichael and NK Wran. 

   Directors’  Superannuation Non-cash Total  Total
 Salary fees contributed benefi ts 2005 2004
 ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

RL Kermode   1,547,196   –     –     14,564   1,561,760*   1,150,000 

E Barukh   663,526   –     88,586   105,388   857,500*  650,000 

IA Armstrong  –     6,900   61,560   –     68,460   55,000 

ND Ford  –     62,805   5,655   –     68,460   60,000 

PJ Franet  –     57,550   5,180   –     62,730   55,000 

PJ Hyer  –     62,805   5,655   –     68,460   60,000 

DS McMichael  –     57,550   5,180   –     62,730   55,000 

NK Wran  –     68,460   –     –     68,460   55,000 

GF Bradd  –     –     –    –     –     9,167 

Total remuneration for the directors  2,210,722   316,070   171,816  119,952   2,818,560   2,149,167 
* Includes performance bonus payments determined by the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.

 ECONOMIC ENTITY

  2005 2004  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000
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26. DIRECTORS’ AND EXECUTIVES’ REMUNERATION 
(CONTINUED)

b) Specifi ed executives’ details and remuneration:
In addition to the Executive Directors, the Company employs the following Specifi ed Executives: Mr F Lukabyo – Chief Operating 
Offi cer of Combined Communications Network Ltd; Mr G Bradd – Chief Operating Offi cer of Black Cabs Combined Ltd; and 
Ms S Doyle – Company Secretary and General Counsel. Mr RL Kermode and Mr E Barukh are Executive Directors.

    Superannuation Non-cash Total  Total
  Salary contributed benefi ts 2005 2004
  ($) ($) ($) ($) ($)

Specifi ed executives
F Lukabyo   284,000   11,808   7,612   303,420   300,000 

S Doyle   297,494   12,864   12,585   322,943   291,329 

G Bradd    181,841   93,591   24,568   300,000  250,000 

Total remuneration for specifi ed executives   763,335   118,263   44,765   926,363   841,329 

c) Remuneration practices:
The remuneration structure for executive offi cers (including the executive directors) is based on a number of factors including 
length of service with the Company, particular experience, and the overall performance of the Company.

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

27. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for –
Auditing or reviewing the fi nancial report   199   190   125   115 

Other services – taxation compliance   20   15   14   10 

Remuneration of other auditors of subsidiary for –
Auditing or reviewing the fi nancial report of subsidiaries  7  6   –     –   

Other services   5   5   –     –   

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
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28. PARTICULARS RELATING TO CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Combined Communications Network Limited Australia 100  100 

Taxi Combined Services Pty Ltd  Australia 100  100 

Silver Service Taxis Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Yellow Cabs of Sydney Pty Ltd  Australia 100  100 

Cabcharge International Limited Hong Kong 100  100 

Cabcharge New Zealand Limited New Zealand 100  100 

Cabcharge Investments Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Transcharge Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Helpline Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Taxi Combined Services (Vic) Pty Ltd  Australia 100  100 

Drycol Properties Pty Ltd  Australia 100  100 

TCS Communications (Vic) Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Carbodies Australia Pty Ltd  Australia 100  100 

Combined Network Couriers Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Enterprise Speech Recognition Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Voci-Asia Pacifi c Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Black Cabs Combined Ltd Australia 100  100 

North Suburban Taxis Ltd Australia 100  100 

Yellow Cabs Victoria Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Access Communications Net Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

Silver Service (Victoria) Pty Ltd Australia 100  100 

ABC Radio Taxi Ltd Australia 100  100 

Cabcharge North America Ltd USA 93  93 

The Company has guaranteed fi nancial support to these subsidiaries, if necessary, to enable them to meet their fi nancial 
commitments where due.

29. SUPERANNUATION COMMITMENTS
All employees of the economic entity are entitled to benefi ts on retirement, disability, death, resignation or retrenchment 
from The De Luxe Cab Company Limited – AXA Tailored Superannuation Plan (SFN 1837/839/40), NM Superannuation Pty Ltd 
(ABN 31 008 428 322) Super Fund No.322 (AFS Licence No . 234654) acting as trustee. The trustee is an “approved trustee” 
under the Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act 1993 (SIS). The administrator and insurer of the fund is AXA Australia 
(ABN 72 004 020 437). This fund is an accumulation type fund based on employers’ contribution of 9% of the employee’s 
ordinary time earnings, which is in accordance with the relevant Standards outlined in the Occupational Superannuation 
Standards Act, Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act and Superannuation Industry (Supervision) Act (SIS).

  GROUP INTEREST %

 Country of Incorporation 2005 2004
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30. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those available to 
other parties unless otherwise stated.

Transactions with related parties are as follows –

Nature of transaction Name Relationship 2005  2004 
   $’000 $’000

(a) Fees paid or payable in  Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Ltd, Director related entity (Mr P Hyer)
capacity as taxi company Northern Districts Taxis & Western 
 District Taxis (Trading as Premier Cabs)   891  821 

 Silver Top Taxi Services Limited Director related entity (Mr P Franet) 1,620  1,515 

 Queensland Taxi Investment Pty Ltd  Director related entity (Mr N Ford)
 (Trading as Yellow Cabs)   1,091  987 

 Combined Communications 
 Network Limited Related party 2,595  2,401 

 Black Cabs Combined Related party 1,001  946 

 ABC Radio Taxi Ltd Related party 107  120 

 North Suburban Taxis Ltd Related party 292  255 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
  Note Numbers Numbers Numbers Numbers

(b) Directors’ share transactions
Directors and Director-related entities hold directly, indirectly or 
benefi cially as at the reporting date the following equity interests 
in the ordinary shares of Cabcharge Australia Limited.  6,066,803   6,529,014   6,066,803  6,529,014 

Movement during the year:
Number at the beginning of the year   6,529,014   18,889,793   6,529,014   18,889,793 

Adjustment to exlude holdings by Mr G Bradd (directly, indirectly or 
benefi cially), upon his cessation as Director on 4 September 2003.  – (4,213,277)  –   (4,213,277)

Adjustment in respect of Mr PJ Franet’s indirect interest in Silver 
Top Taxi Services Limited (“Silver Top”). Silver Top transferred its 
shareholding in Cabcharge to Gange Corporation Pty Ltd after a 
change of ownership during the year.   – (8,058,146)  –    (8,058,146)

Adjustment to Mr ND Ford’s holdings on account of NL Ford 
Nominees Pty Ltd Super Fund  3,000   –    3,000   –  

Purchases  30(c)  7,500   95,040   7,500  95,040 

Share sales  30(d) (472,711) (184,396)  (472,711) (184,396)

Number at the end of the year  6,066,803   6,529,014   6,066,803  6,529,014 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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30. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(c ) Share purchase
The only share purchase of Cabcharge shares by a Director (directly, indirectly or benefi cially) was by Mr DS McMichael on 
account of Donren Holdings Superannuation Fund – a purchase of 7,500 shares.

(d ) Share sales
Share sales of Cabcharge shares by a Director (directly, indirectly or benefi cially) were by Mr PJ Hyer’s related entity, Adelhill Ltd 
315,604 shares; and Mr E Barukh 150,000 shares; and Mr PJ Franet’s related entity, Faraday Investments Pty Ltd 7,107 shares.

(e ) Other director-related transactions
Transfers of shares from direct holdings by a Director to indirect or benefi cially held shares were by Mr E Barukh to jointly held by 
Mr & Mrs E&K Barukh 1,000 shares; and Mr N Ford to NL Ford Nominees Pty Ltd Super Fund 86,334 shares.

Motor vehicles to the value of $280,703 were purchased from Mr ND Ford during the year (2004: $281,059).

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

31. CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for EFTPOS equipment:

Payable not later than 1 year  2,500   9,935   2,500   9,935 

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years   –    4,970   –    4,970 

   2,500   14,905   2,500   14,905 

32. NOTES TO THE CASHFLOW

(a) Reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities with 
profi t from ordinary activities after income tax
Profi t from ordinary activities after income tax  27,230  23,132   19,672   16,956 

Non-cash fl ows in profi t from ordinary activities

 Depreciation and amortisation expense  11,848   8,931   7,022   5,166 

 Net (profi t) or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (81)  (274)  –    (209)

 Borrowing expenses   373   412   –    –  

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of the effects of purchase of subsidiaries –

 (Increase)/Decrease in trade and other debtors   (4,112)  2,628   (5,385)  2,470 

 (Increase)/Decrease in inventories   296   75   –    –  

 Increase/(Decrease) in creditors and accruals   700   1,425   5,925   1,811 

 Increase/(Decrease) in provisions   278   290   137   302 

 Movement in income taxes payable   (1,687)  776   (1,754)  2,668 

 Movement in deferred tax balances   9   (470)  9  (1,685)

Net cash provided by operating activities  34,854   36,925   25,626   27,479 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005
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32. NOTES TO THE CASHFLOW (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial facilities

Bank overdraft and loan limits
Overdraft facility   4,250  4,250   3,500   3,500 

Bills facility   1,000   1,000   –    –  

Hire purchase facility   1,571   1,571   –    –  

Standby facility  15,000  15,000   15,000   15,000 

Total facility   21,821   21,821   18,500   18,500 

Amount used  975  1,732  –  –  

Amount unused   20,846   20,089   18,500   18,500 

(c) Restricted cash
There was no restricted cash on 30 June 2005.

(d) Hire purchase commitments
Minimum payments  983   1,445   –    –  

Less future fi nance charges   (66)  (78)  –    –  

Total hire purchase liability   917   1,367   –    –  

Payable

 not later than 1 year   440   451   –    –  

 later than 1 year but not later than 5 years   477   916   –    –  

Total hire purchase liability   917  1,367   –    –  

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk and the effective interest rates of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities, both recognised and 
unrecognised at balance date, is as follows:
  Floating Non-interest Carrying Effective interest
   interest rate sensitive value rate
  $’000 $’000 $’000  (%)

2005 year

Financial assets
Cash at bank/on hand   –    3,257   3,257  

Money market/deposit   35,002   –    35,002  4.20-5.60

Receivables   –    51,245   51,245  

Investments   –    23,668   23,668  

   35,002   78,170   113,172  

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable   –    12,116   12,116  

Unsecured and other loans   7,779   –    7,779  4.00-5.00

   7,779   12,116   19,895  

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005 2004 2005 2004
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

2004 year 

Financial assets
Cash at bank/on hand   –    4,429   4,429  

Money market/deposit   41,187   –    41,187  4.20 – 5.59

Receivables   –   46,885   46,885  

Investments   –    20,471   20,471  

   41,187   71,785   112,972  

Financial liabilities
Accounts payable   –   11,416   11,416  

Unsecured loans   9,762   –    9,762  4.5

   9,762   11,416   21,178  

(b) Credit risk exposures
The economic entity’s maximum exposures to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date 
to recognised fi nancial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, of those assets as disclosed in the 
statement of fi nancial position and notes to the fi nancial statements.

The company minimised concentration of credit risk in relation to trade accounts receivable by undertaking transactions with a 
large number of customers. However, all the customers are concentrated in Australia.

Credit risk in Trade receivables is managed in the following ways:
– payment terms are 28 days
– a risk assessment process is used for customers over 90 days; and
– cash or Bank guarantee is obtained where appropriate.

(c) Net fair values
Valuation approach
Marketable shares included in “Other fi nancial assets” are traded in an organised fi nancial market. The net fair value of 
marketable shares is determined by valuing them at the current quoted market sell price. The carrying amount of cash, deposits, 
accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate net fair value. Investments in unlisted securities are refl ected at valuation 
– Directors’ appraisals are undertaken as necessary to refl ect substantial changes affecting the net fair value of investments.

  Floating Non-interest Carrying Effective interest
   interest rate sensitive value rate 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005  $’000 $’000 $’000 (%)
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of fi nancial assets 
and fi nancial liabilities at balance date:

Financial Assets
Cash on hand / bank  3,257  3,257   4,429   4,429 

Money market / deposits   35,002   35,002   41,187   41,187 

Receivables   51,245   51,245   46,885   46,885 

Investments   23,668   23,668   20,471  20,471 

   113,172   113,172   112,972   112,972 

Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable   12,116   12,116   11,416   11,416 

Unsecured loans   7,779   7,779   9,762   9,762 

   19,895   19,895   21,178   21,178 

 2005 YEAR 2004 YEAR

  Carrying Net fair Carrying Net fair
  amount value amount value
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

34. SEGMENT REPORTING
The economic entity operates predominantly in one business 
and geographic segment being the provision of taxi related 
services in Australia.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company has no contingent liabilities.

36. POST-BALANCE DATE EVENTS 
Cabcharge and ComfortDelGro Corporation Limited 
(ComfortDelGro) announced on 22 August 2005 the 
acquisition of the business and assets of dominant Western 
Sydney bus operator, the Westbus Group, for approximately 
$106.7 million cash.

Cabcharge holds a 49% stake in the joint venture entity, 
ComfortDelGro Cabcharge Pty Ltd, and ComfortDelGro, 
the world’s second largest listed land transport operator, 
holds a 51% stake. The acquisition is due for completion by 
30 September 2005.

37. IMPACT OF ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN 
EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
The company is preparing and managing the transition to 
Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRS) that are effective for fi nancial years 
commencing on or after 1 January 2005. Accordingly, 
Cabcharge is required to adopt AIFRS in the economic entity’s 
and parent entity’s fi nancial statements for the fi nancial year 
ending 30 June 2006 (including the interim fi nancial report for 

the period ending 31 December 2005). On fi rst time adoption 
of AIFRS, comparatives for the fi nancial year ended 30 June 
2005 are required to be restated. The majority of the AIFRS 
transitional adjustments will be made retrospectively against 
retained earnings at 1 July 2004.

Cabcharge has established a project team to manage the 
transition to AIFRS, including training of staff, system and 
internal control changes and an assessment of the signifi cance 
of these changes. The project team is chaired by the Chief 
Financial Offi cer and reports to the Audit Committee. 
Management have also engaged independent consultants to 
assist in the assessment of these changes. The impact of the 
alternative treatments and elections under AASB 1: First Time 
Adoption of AIFRS has been considered where applicable.

The directors are of the opinion that the key material 
differences in the economic entity’s accounting policies 
on conversion to AIFRS and the fi nancial effect of these 
differences, where known, are as follows. Users of the 
fi nancial statements should note, however, that the amounts 
disclosed could change if there are any amendments by 
standard-setters to the current AIFRS or interpretation of 
the AIFRS requirements changes from the continuing work 
of the economic entity’s AIFRS committee.

(i) Goodwill on consolidation
Current accounting policy of the entity is to amortise goodwill 
on a straight-line basis over a period of 20 years. Under 
AASB 3: Business Combinations, goodwill is capitalised to the 
statement of fi nancial position and subjected to an annual 
impairment test and amortisation of goodwill is prohibited.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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37. IMPACT OF ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN EQUIVA-
LENTS TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

(i) Goodwill on consolidation (continued)
Under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the recoverable 
amount of an asset is determined as the higher of its net 
selling price and value in use. The Group’s current accounting 
policy is to determine the recoverable amount of an asset on 
the basis of nominal cash fl ows. The Group’s assets including 
goodwill were tested for impairment on transition and each 
subsequent reporting date as part of the cash generating 
unit to which they belong. Impairment testing confi rmed no 
impairment of the goodwill of $7,398,000 as disclosed in the 
economic entity’s fi nancial statements at 30 June 2005. 
The goodwill amortisation for the year ended 30 June 2005 
of $552,000 will, therefore, be reversed under AIFRS resulting 
in a corresponding increase in profi t for the year ended 
30 June 2005.

(ii) Impairment of assets
Under AASB 136: Impairment of Assets, the recoverable 
amount of an asset is determined as the higher of fair value 
less costs to sell, and value in use. In determining value in 
use, projected future cash fl ows are discounted using a risk 
adjusted pre-tax discount rate and impairment is assessed 
for the individual asset or at the ‘cash generating unit’ level. 
A ‘cash generating unit’ is determined as the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash fl ows that are largely independent 
of the cash infl ows from other assets or groups of assets. The 
current policy is to determine the recoverable amount of an 
asset on the basis of undiscounted net cash fl ows that will 
be received from the asset’s use and subsequent disposal. 
It is likely that this change in accounting policy will lead to 
impairments being recognised more often.

The economic entity has tested all intangible assets for 
impairment as at 1 July 2004 and no impairment issues arose, 
ie there will be no impact on the fi nancial statements.

(iii) Non current investments
Under AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, fi nancial assets are required to be classifi ed into 
four categories, which determines the accounting treatment of 
the item. The categories and various treatments are:
– held to maturity, measured at amortised cost
–  held for trading, measured at fair value with unrealised gains 

or losses charged to the profi t and loss

– loans and receivables, measured at amortised cost
–  available for sale instruments, measured at fair value with 

unrealised gains or losses taken to equity.

The economic entity’s fi nancial assets comprise available 
for sale fi nancial instruments. Under AASB 139: Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the measurement 
of available for sale instruments at fair value is consistent 
with the companies current accounting policy to value listed 
company investments at market value.

(iv) Income tax
Currently, the economic entity adopts the liability method 
of tax-effect accounting whereby the income tax expense is 
based on the accounting profi t adjusted for any permanent 
differences. Timing differences are currently brought to 
account as either a provision for deferred income tax or future 
income tax benefi t. Under AASB 112: Income Taxes, the entity 
will be required to adopt a balance sheet approach under 
which temporary differences are identifi ed for each asset and 
liability rather than the effects of the timing and permanent 
differences between taxable income and accounting profi t

The most signifi cant impact will be the recognition of a 
deferred tax asset of $1,890,000 at 1 July 2004 in relation 
to differences between the asset carrying value and the tax 
cost base of certain assets acquired through past business 
combinations. This adjustment will be refl ected in opening 
retained earnings on transition to AIFRS at 1 July 2004 and 
will have no effect on the reported profi t for the year ended 
30 June 2005.

The economic entity will also recognise a deferred tax liability 
at 1 July 2004 of approximately $235,000 in relation to 
the asset revaluation and $384,000 at 30 June 2005. This 
adjustment will have no effect on profi t for the year ended 
30 June 2005 and in both instances the deferred tax is 
recognised directly to equity being a reduction in the asset 
revaluation reserve.
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37. IMPACT OF ADOPTION OF AUSTRALIAN 
EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS (CONTINUED)

(v)Summary of likely fi nancial impacts
On transition to AIFRS the estimated cumulative fi nancial effect of the 
reliably known differences on economic entity’s reported net profi t and 
equity as at 30 June 2005 is summarised below. As noted above, 
these amounts represent management’s best estimates, and could 
differ from actuals.

Reconciliation of net profi t
Net profi t reported under Australian Accounting Standards   27,230    19,672 

Key transitional adjustments:      
 Reversal of amortisation of goodwill (i)   552    248 

Net profi t under AIFRS   27,782    19,920 

Reconciliation of equity
Total equity reported under Australian Accounting Standards   137,992    115,853 

 Recognition of deferred tax assets (iv)   1,890    –  

 Recognition of deferred tax on revalued assets (iv)   (235)   (230)

    1,655    (230)

   139,647    115,623 

Increase in current year profi t resulting from transition to AIFRS   552    248 

Recognition of deferred tax on revalued assets (iv)   (149)   (148)

Total equity under AIFRS   140,050    115,723 

  (cents)  (cents)

Earnings per share   24.8    NA 

Diluted earnings per share   24.8    NA 

 ECONOMIC ENTITY PARENT ENTITY

  2005  2005 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2005   $’000  $’000 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
CABCHARGE AUSTRALIA LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

In the opinion of the Directors of Cabcharge Australia Limited:

(a)  the fi nancial statements and notes, as set out on pages 30 to 54, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including:

 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the fi nancial position of the Company and consolidated entity as at 30 June 2005 
and of their performance, as represented by the result of their operations and their cash fl ows, for the year 
ended on that date; and

 (ii) complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors

NEVILLE WRAN PETER HYER
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

Sydney, 26 September 2005
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SCOPE

THE FINANCIAL REPORT AND DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITY
The fi nancial report comprises the statement of fi nancial 
position, statement of fi nancial performance, statement of 
cash fl ows, accompanying notes to the fi nancial statements, 
and the Directors’ Declaration for Cabcharge Australia Limited, 
for the year ended 30 June 2005. The consolidated entity 
comprises both the Company and the entities it controlled 
during that year.

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the 
preparation and true and fair presentation of the fi nancial 
report in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. 
This includes responsibility for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records and internal controls that are designed 
to prevent and detect fraud and error, and for the accounting 
policies and accounting estimates inherent in the fi nancial 
report.

AUDIT APPROACH
We conducted an independent audit in order to express an 
opinion to the members of the Company. Our audit was 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, 
in order to provide reasonable assurance as to whether the 
fi nancial report is free of material misstatement. The nature of 
an audit is infl uenced by factors such as the use of professional 
judgment, selective testing, the inherent limitations of 
internal control, and the availability of persuasive rather than 
conclusive evidence. Therefore, an audit cannot guarantee that 
all material misstatements have been detected.

We performed procedures to assess whether in all material 
respects the fi nancial report presents fairly, in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, including compliance with 
Accounting Standards and other mandatory fi nancial reporting 
requirements in Australia, a view which is consistent with our 
understanding of the Company’s and the consolidated entity’s 
fi nancial position, and of their performance as represented by 
the results of their operations and cash fl ows.

We formed our audit opinion on the basis of these 
procedures, which included:
–  examining, on a test basis, information to provide evidence 

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial 
report; and

–  assessing the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
and disclosures used and the reasonableness of signifi cant 
accounting estimates made by the Directors.

While we considered the effectiveness of management’s 
internal controls over fi nancial reporting when determining 
the nature and extent of our procedures, our audit was not 
designed to provide assurance on internal controls.

INDEPENDENCE
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable 
independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements and the Corporations Act 2001.

AUDIT OPINION
In our opinion, the fi nancial report of Cabcharge Australia 
Limited is in accordance with:
(a) the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and 

consolidated entity’s fi nancial position as at 30 June 
2005 and of their performance for the year ended on 
that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Accounting Standards in Australia and 
the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)  other mandatory fi nancial reporting requirements in 
Australia.

BLACKETT & LEWIS 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

BRYAN BIRD 
PARTNER

Sydney, 26 September 2005

INDEPENDENT AUDIT 
REPORT
CABCHARGE AUSTRALIA LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
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SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 6 SEPTEMBER 2005

(a) Distribution of Shareholders numbers 

Range of shareholdings No of shareholdings Shares % of total 

1 – 1000  1,351   1,030,768   0.92 

1001 – 5000  2,910   7,590,608   6.76 

5001 –10000  890   5,870,606   5.23 

10001 – 100000  731   20,698,900   18.44 

100001 and over  90   77,042,175   68.65 

  5,972   112,233,057   100.00 

(b) The number of Shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 20

(c) The names of the substantial shareholders listed in the Company’s register

Name Number of FPO shares held

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 11,836,689 

RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Ltd <BKCUST> 8,497,947 

National Nominees Limited 7,384,071 

(d) Voting rights – all shares hold the same voting rights

(e) 20 Largest Shareholders – Ordinary Shares

Rank Name Number of FPO shares held % held

1 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited  11,836,689   10.55 

2 RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Ltd <BKCUST>  8,497,947   7.57 

3 National Nominees  7,384,071   6.58 

4 Citicorp Nominees <CFS Future Leaders Fund>  4,139,872   3.69 

5 Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited  3,529,560   3.14 

6  ANZ Nominees Ltd <Cash income a/c>  3,435,156   3.06 

7 Legion Cabs (Trading) Co-Operative Society Limited  3,007,614   2.68 

8 Swan Taxis Co-Operative Ltd  2,631,004   2.34 

9 Citicorp Nominees <CFSIL cfs ws small comp>  2,216,902   1.98 

10  Health Super Pty Ltd  1,871,651   1.67 

11 Queensland Investment Corporation  1,719,636   1.53 

12 Arrow Taxi Services Limited  1,717,814   1.53 

13 AMP Life Limited  1,513,885   1.35 

14 Cogent Nominees Pty Limited 1,487,125   1.33 

15 Reginald Lionel Kermode  1,200,000   1.07 

16 RBC Global Services Australia Nominees Pty Ltd <Pipooled>  1,160,222   1.03 

17 Nefco Nominees Pty Ltd  1,062,676   0.95 

18 Queensland Taxi Investments Pty Ltd  1,060,288   0.94 

19 Cumberland Cabs Company Pty Ltd  1,004,593   0.90 

20 Sandhurst Trustees Ltd <SISF a/c>  686,483   0.61 

   61,163,188   54.50 

AUSTRALIAN STOCK 
EXCHANGE INFORMATION
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FINAL DIVIDENDS 2005
Record date was 19 September 2005 
Dividend payment date is 18 October 2005

VOTING RIGHTS
Subject to Cabcharge’s constitution –
(a)  at a general meeting –
 (i)  on a show of hands, every member present has one 

vote; and
 (ii)  on a poll, every member present has one vote for each 

fully paid share held by the member and in respect of 
which the member is entitled to vote.

(b)  at a general meeting each member entitled to vote at a 
meeting of members may vote –

 (i)  in person or, where a member is a body corporate, 
by its representative;

 (ii) by not more than two proxies; or
 (iii) by not more than two attorneys.

AUSTRALIAN STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Cabcharge’s Ordianry Shares are quoted on the Australian 
Stock Exchange (“ASX”) with Sydney being Cabcharge’s home 
exchange. The stock code under which the shares trade is 
CAB. Trading results are published in most large Australian 
daily newspapers.

INTERNET
Interim and fi nal results are available on Cabcharge’s Internet 
home page: (www.cabcharge.com.au).

ANNUAL REPORT NOT REQUIRED 
Shareholders not wishing to receive the Annual Report, 
or who are receiving more than one copy, should advise the 
share registry in writing, quoting their Shareholder Reference 
Number or Holder Identifi cation Number. Shareholders will still 
receive all other mailings. An “Annual Report Not Required” 
notice can be obtained from the share registry.

TAX FILE NUMBERS
The share registry is obliged to record Tax File Numbers 
(“TFN”) or exemption details provided by Australian resident 
shareholders. While it is not compulsory to provide TFN’s 
or exemption details, Cabcharge will be obliged to deduct 
withholding tax at the highest marginal rate, plus Medicare 
levy, for any unfranked or partially franked dividends, 
paid to shareholders resident in Australia who have not 
supplied TFN’s. Further information can be obtained from 
the share registry.

AUSTRALIAN STOCK 
EXCHANGE INFORMATION
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Ms Sharon Doyle

Registered Offi ce
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East Sydney NSW 2010
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Auditor
Blackett and Lewis
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